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Winnipeg, Manitoba  R3C 0C4

December 2006

The Honourable George Hickes
Speaker of the House
Room 244, Legislative Building
Winnipeg, Manitoba

R3C 0V8

Dear Sir:

I have the honour to transmit herewith my report on the Audit of the Public 
Accounts for the year ended March 31, 2006 to be laid before Members of the 
Legislative Assembly in accordance with the provisions of Section 28 of The  
Auditor General Act.

This report represents my first public report since being appointed as Auditor 
General in July of this year.  These last five months have been a period of  
reflection about the many changes in the public sector since I last held the office 
of Provincial Auditor in 1996.  The adoption of the Summary Financial Statements 
represents one of the most significant positive changes.

The shift to the Summary Financial Statements has progressed well beyond a 
mechanical adoption of accounting standards.  It has included an acceptance 
throughout the public sector of its importance.  The underlying systems, reports 
and inter-relationships have been identified and have been or are being properly 
coordinated to complete this shift.  This report describes the substantial progress 
made in this area during the 2005/06 fiscal year.

The Public Accounts Committee has also improved in the last ten years with  
stronger rules and more frequent meetings.  We include a short section in this  
report highlighting the status of our previously reported recommendations.  It is  
my intention to promote constructive improvements to the Public Accounts 
Committee operations this next year, as a priority activity for our office.

Respectfully submitted,

Carol Bellringer, FCA, MBA
Auditor General
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Introductory Comments from the
Deputy Auditor General
This report highlights the work performed by our office to ensure that we fulfill our
responsibilities under Part 3 of The Auditor General Act for the Audit of the Public
Accounts of Manitoba.  With the Government accepting our long-standing
recommendation of fully adopting generally accepted accounting principles for 2007/08
and publicly reporting on only one set of financial statements - the consolidated
(Summary) financial statements of the Province of Manitoba, this will facilitate the
public’s understanding of government finances by presenting only “one bottom line”.

In addition to highlighting our direct work on the Public Accounts of Manitoba, this
report contains a summary of an assessment we performed of Internal Audit and
Consulting Services.  This work was undertaken to encourage the strengthening of the
Internal Audit function in the public sector through the establishment of an Internal
Audit Committee to assist in this regard.

In addition, we continue to promote the strengthening of the Public Accounts Committee
of Manitoba, as well as improvements to public performance reporting.  This is noted
within topical sections of this report.

The following Executive Summary provides a synopsis of some key items noted in this
year’s report.

Executive Summary
In this year’s report we highlight the Government’s adoption of an expanded Government
Reporting Entity (GRE) defined based on control as required by the Public Sector
Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.  This
change resulted in eight additional crown organizations being consolidated into the GRE.
Public school divisions will be consolidated into the 2007/08 Summary Financial
Statements.  At this time public school divisions do not prepare financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and as a result, their
financial statements could not be consolidated into the 2005/06 Summary Financial
Statements.

As a result, the non-consolidation of public school divisions’ financial statements
resulted in a reservation in the Auditor’s Report on the 2005/06 Summary Financial
Statements.  The reservation stated that the effects of the non-consolidation of public
school divisions on the reported assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and notes to the
financial statements could not be determined.  The qualified audit opinion stated that,
“except for the effects of non-consolidation of public school divisions on the financial
position as at March 31, 2006 of the Province of Manitoba and the operating results of the
for the year then ended, the Summary Financial Statements were presented in accordance
with Canadian GAAP”.

The Government has committed to prepare Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with GAAP as well as prepare a full consolidated budget based on the new

Expanded Consolidation of
Entities into the Summary
Financial Statements.

Qualified Audit Opinion for Non-
Consolidation of School Divisions.

Commitment to Prepare
Consolidated Financial
Statements in Accordance With
GAAP.
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GRE, including public school divisions, for the 2007/08 fiscal year.  In this report, we
reviewed the actions taken towards this commitment.

For 2005/06, the Government adopted a new accounting policy for the recognition of
environmental liabilities for which the Province is obligated or likely to be obligated to
remediate.  The accounting policy provides for the phased–in recognition (to March 31,
2009) of all liabilities, as determined by site by site assessments, resulting from
contamination which occurred on or before March 31, 2005.  These liabilities will be
recorded as a charge to the accumulated deficit. The initial liability recognized was $142
million.  The liability associated with contamination occurring after March 31, 2005 will
be recorded as an expense in the current year.

We continue to believe that the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds
Financial Statements should not be used to assess the Government’s performance in
managing the Province’s financial affairs and public resources because there are
significant accounting policies used in the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special
Funds Financial Statements that are not in accordance with GAAP.

If Canadian GAAP had been used in the preparation of the Special Purpose Financial
Statements, financial assets would increase by $199 million (2005 - $246 million), non-
financial assets would increase by $1,826 million (2005 - $1,707 million), liabilities
would increase by $2,390 million (2005 - $2,649 million), net debt would increase by
$2,191 million (2005 - $2,403 million), accumulated deficit would increase by $365
million (2005 - $696 million), revenue including net income from government business
enterprises would increase by $2,209 million (2005 - $1,871 million), and expenses
would increase by $2,062 million (2005 - $1,854 million).  As well, the effects of the
non-consolidation of public school divisions on the reported assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses, and the information provided by way of notes to the financial statements
cannot be determined.  As a result, this year, we again excluded the word “fairly” from
the opinion paragraph in order to continue to highlight the limitations inherent in the
Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds Financial Statements.

This year, in the section titled, Continuing Focus toward the Summary Financial
Statements, we again present two sections:  Understanding the Summary Financial
Statements, and Financial Condition.  These sections are intended to assist readers in
understanding the Summary Financial Statements.  A key focus of Summary Financial
Statements involves the concept of net debt and the change in net debt, both in actual
and relative terms (to the provincial economy).  The consistency of the Province’s
accounting policies and the completeness of note disclosure are fundamental to
understanding the Summary Financial Statements.  As well, the planned results (budgeted
estimates of revenue and expense) are also important in assessing the Province’s annual
results in relation to the budget.

In our review of the 2005/06 Annual Report, we noted that there is only limited
discussion or analysis of risk and how the Province addressed risk.  As well, more
emphasis on the Summary Financial Statements, reflecting the financial position and
operating results of the GRE, is still needed.  In our view, the Annual Report needs to be
enhanced to reflect PSAB’s Statements of Recommended Practice on Financial Statement
Analysis and Public Performance Reporting.

Understanding the Summary
Financial Statements.

Additional Information in the
Annual Report Needed

New Environmental Liabilities
Accounting Policy.

Special Purpose Operating Fund
and Special Funds Financial
Statements Not in Accordance
with GAAP.
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In the last two sections of our report we include a report on External Assessment of
Internal Audit and Consulting Services and a report on Future Handbook Sections
Affecting the Public Accounts.

In our assessment, we compared the operations of the Province’s Internal Audit and
Consulting Services (IACS) with standards set by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA)
and Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) to assist them in modernizing
their practices as they refocus their strategic direction and operations.  We found that
IACS needs to take a number of critical steps to meet IIA standards and modernize their
practices.  Our recommendations centered on a number of areas including the
implementation of a government-wide internal audit committee, the setting of standards
to maintain independence and objectivity, the establishment of a charter to set out IACS
roles and responsibilities, the clarification of the professional standards used in planning
and executing their work, resourcing issues, the communication of audit findings and
recommendations, the follow-up on audit report issued, performance measurement and
assessments and the ability to add value.

The last section of our report provides information about recommendations and guidance
on accounting for public sector entities established by the Public Sector Accounting
Board (PSAB) of the CICA.  The new and future PSAB Handbook sections affecting financial
reporting in public accounts include:

• segment disclosure;

• tangible capital assets; and

• performance reporting - statement of recommended practice.

New PSAB projects on government transfers and financial instruments may also impact
the public accounts.

Bonnie J. Lysyk, MBA, CA•CIA
Deputy Auditor General and Chief Operating Officer

December 2006

IACS Moving Toward Modernizing
Practice.
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Highlights of the 2005/06 Public Accounts

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
• Five Year Comparative Results are presented in Figure 1.

FIGURE 1

• For the year ended March 31, 2006, the Government Reporting Entity
(GRE) of the Province of Manitoba was redefined based on control; the
expanded Reporting Entity included all of the previous consolidated
entities and eight other entities as well as one new crown organization.
Public School Divisions will be consolidated for the year ending
March 31, 2008.

• The Summary Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2006
reflected the new GRE and were prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) except for the non-
consolidation of the public school divisions’ financial statements.

• The Province began recording its environmental liabilities in the 2006
Summary Financial Statements.

SPECIAL PURPOSE OPERATING FUND AND SPECIAL FUNDS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

• One significant shortcoming of a focus on these statements is that even
though the financial statements reflect a positive balance for the
purposes of Balanced Budget Legislation, deficits (after reflecting the
impact of GAAP adjustments, such as for pension expense) can and have
occurred, net debt to GDP can, and has gone up, and borrowings can,
and have gone up.

• These financial statements are prepared using the Province’s accounting
policies (which vary from GAAP) for the year ended March 31, 2006 as
follows:



HIGHLIGHTS OF THE 2005/06 PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
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- pension liability of $4.0 billion and pension expense of $206
million was not recorded;

- elimination of deferred charges (asset) of $637 million and the
related expense of $51 million were not recorded;

- financial assets of $199 million, non-financial assets of $2,463
million , a reduction in liabilities of $1,577 million and in net
debt of $1,776 million, as well as, a reduction in the accumulated
deficit of $4,239 million, revenue of $2,209 million and expenses
of $1,805 million for all of the crown organizations and
government business enterprises were not recorded; and

- there was no restatement of the correction of errors and the
changes in accounting policies.

• Without the above variations from GAAP, the Special Purpose Operating
Fund and Special Funds Financial Statements would have reflected
increased financial assets by $199 million, increased non-financial
assets by $1,826 million, increased liabilities by $2,390 million,
increased net debt by $2,191 million, increased accumulated deficit by
$365 million, increased revenues including net income from
government business enterprises by $2,209 million, and expenses would
have increased by $2,062 million.  As well, the effects of the non-
consolidation of public school divisions on the reported assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the information provided by way
of notes to the financial statements cannot be determined.

ANNUAL RESULTS:  SUMMARY VS. OPERATING FUND

FIGURE 2

Figure 2 illustrates the differences between annual results computed for the Summary
Financial Statements versus the Operating Fund.
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Continuing Focus Toward the Summary
Financial Statements
Over the past few years we have reflected on the financial reporting practices of the
Province in the context of the worldwide call for improved accountability and
transparency.  This year the Government continues to commit to focus public discussion
solely on the Summary Financial Statements and to eliminate the need for published,
audited Operating Fund Financial Statements by 2007/08.  This change also involves
preparing a full summary budget for the 2007/08 fiscal year as well as preparing
quarterly summary financial statements at a later point thereafter.

We have been reporting to Manitobans for many years that the Summary Financial
Statements are the financial statements that should be used to assess the Government’s
performance and the Province’s financial position including its net debt position.  The
Special Purpose Financial Statements are not GAAP financial statements and do not
include net debt of $2.2 billion ($4.0 billion pension liability offset by other net assets
of $1.8 billion) or the additional net annual surplus of $147 million from the operations
of crown organizations and government business enterprises (excluding the nets profits
from Manitoba Lotteries Corporation and Manitoba Liquor Control Commission which are
already reflected in the Special Purpose Financial Statements).  The following sections are
intended to assist readers in understanding the Summary Financial Statements and how
they can be used in assessing the Government’s financial condition.

UNDERSTANDING THE SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We believe the keys* to understanding the Summary Financial Statements are:

• Governments are different than businesses and their financial reporting
reflects that difference.  A government’s goal is to provide services
through its programs and redistribute the Province’s resources, not
make a profit;

• All the crown organizations and government business enterprises
comprising a government’s reporting entity are included (see
Appendix E);

• The focus is on net debt which is total liabilities less financial assets
(financial assets are assets which can be used to pay off liabilities) (see
Appendix B, page 147); Net debt represents the future revenue
requirements needed to pay for existing liabilities (past transactions
and events);

• Non-financial assets such as tangible capital assets (i.e., infrastructure,
land, buildings, etc.) are used to provide services and cannot be used to
pay off liabilities unless they are sold; they are included in the
accumulated deficit figures as a reduction of net debt (see Appendix B,
page 147);

• Accumulated deficit reflects the government’s entire net economic
shortfall.  It means that the government’s liabilities are greater than
their assets and that the government has been financing their annual

*Incorporates guidance from CICA
Publication, “20 Questions About
Government Financial Reporting,
Federal, Provincial and Territorial
Governments”.
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operating deficits by borrowing.  It also reflects the sum of all the
annual surpluses and deficits ever reported by a government;

• Borrowings on the Statement of Financial Position (see Appendix B,
page 147) refer to the total debt issued by the government (past and
present);

• Net borrowings on the Statement of Financial Position exclude the debt
issued on behalf of government business enterprises such as Manitoba
Hydro-Electric Board as well as sinking funds which are used to repay
the debt.  However, net borrowings are only part of the government’s
total liabilities;

• Total liabilities represent all the amounts owed by the government
including amounts owed to employees for future benefits such as
pensions and retirement allowances (severance);

• Government’s annual surplus (deficit) (see Appendix B, page 148)
indicates whether a government has raised sufficient revenues to pay
for its expenses for that fiscal year.  The expenses reported include the
cost of using existing and new capital assets which is referred to as
amortization expense.  If revenues equal expenses then a government is
considered to have maintained its net assets (there is no increase in the
accumulated deficit);

• Government’s change in net debt (see Appendix B, page 150) reflects
whether the government’s revenues were sufficient to cover their
expenses and other spending such as the funds spent on the purchase or
construction of tangible capital assets.  The level of net capital
spending may also be compared to the planned (budgeted) level of
capital spending.  An increase in net debt indicates that more future
revenues will be required to pay for past transactions;

• Government’s cash flows are reported on the Statement of Cash Flow and
identify the change in cash (and cash equivalents) and the source and
use of cash through operating, investing and financing activities.  It
also highlights net capital spending and how cash was used to acquire
capital assets;

• Budgeted and actual figures should be shown on the Statements of
Revenue and Expense (Operations) and Change in Net Debt (see
Appendix B, pages 148 and 150).  Unfortunately at this time, only the
Special Purpose Financial Statements disclose detailed budgeted figures
on the Schedule of Operating Fund Revenue and Expense (Schedule 8)
(see Appendix D, page 224); the Summary Financial Statements disclose
only net revenues by crown organization (Schedule 9) (see Appendix B,
page 185);

• The budget is a guide to the government’s public policy decisions.  It
establishes the estimates of revenues and expenses as well as capital
spending for each fiscal year.  The budget reflects the government’s
financing requirements to support both operating and capital spending.
It is also used to determine the extent of new borrowings needed and
influences the setting of tax rates and users’ fees;
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• Government’s budget is also an important accountability document and
is used as a benchmark against which their performance is measured.
Planned spending is compared with actual spending.  The government is
accountable for their programs, the cost of services (programs)
provided as well as their financial position.  The cost of services should
be reported by function such as Health and Education.  As a result, the
budget should be presented on a basis that is consistent with or at least
reconciled with how the information is presented in the Summary
Financial Statements;

• Government’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in note 1 to
the Summary Financial Statements.  These accounting policies are
integral to understanding how a government accounts for transactions
and events and should indicate whether they are set in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP);

• In order to have meaningful comparisons between planned and actual
results, the same accounting policies must be used to reflect the prior
year’s and the current year’s annual results.  The prior’s year annual
results along with the current year’s results must be restated to reflect
the effects of any change in accounting policy;

• The Auditor’s Report states whether the accounting policies have been
applied on a consistent basis with that of the preceding year.  A
consistent basis means that where there have been changes in
accounting policies, the prior years’ as well as the current year’s results
have been restated to show the reader the impact of the changes; and

• Other notes to the Summary Financial Statements also provide
disclosure and explanations regarding significant transactions and
events in the reporting period as well as information about contingent
liabilities and contractual obligations, related party transactions and
subsequent events.  Note disclosure is not a substitute for proper
accounting treatment which means that transactions must be reflected
in the Statements of Financial Position and Revenue and Expense
(Operations) unless only note disclosure is required under GAAP.

FINANCIAL CONDITION
In order to assess the government’s financial condition, the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants selected a set of financial indicators which provide an analysis of
the state of a government’s management of their finances.

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Research Report on Indicators of
Government Financial Condition [1997] (Research Report) also indicates that the
Summary Financial Statements should be used to determine the financial indicators.  The
Research Report defines the financial condition of a government as follows:

“The financial condition of the government is its financial health as
measured by sustainability, vulnerability and flexibility, looked at in the
context of the overall economic and financial environment.  These terms
are defined as follows:
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- Sustainability:  the degree to which a government can maintain
existing programs and meet existing creditor requirements without
increasing the debt burden on the economy.

- Flexibility:  the degree to which a government can increase its
financial resources to respond to rising commitments, by either
expanding its revenues or increasing its debt burden.

- Vulnerability:  the degree to which a government becomes dependent
on, and therefore vulnerable to, sources of funding outside its control
or influence, both domestic and international. “

Financial condition focuses on the finances of the government.  It is not intended to
assess the financial condition of the economy, or overall government performance or
current fiscal policy or government solvency.  It is not an assessment of the effectiveness
of government spending and revenue decisions.  The intended outcomes of government
activities are important and should be discussed but not as indicators of financial
condition.  The financial condition of a government needs to be assessed relative to the
economy, and benchmarks (targets) should be used to measure the government’s relative
financial condition as well as assess long term trends.  The Government of Manitoba has
not established its own targets for such indicators.

Overall, the financial condition of the government is different from the financial
condition of the economy.  The benefits that are generated by government financial
activities are different from the benefits created by the financial activities of private
sector organizations.  For the most part, the benefits of the financial activities of private
sector organizations accrue to the organizations and increase their net wealth.  Most of
the benefits that are generated by government financial activities accrue to society and
are not reflected on the government’s balance sheet (statement of financial position) even
though the shortfall or deficit resulting from these activities becomes part of the
government’s debt.  A case in point is the investment in health and education which
benefits society as a whole but is not reflected on the government’s balance sheet.

For the 2002 – 2006 fiscal years, seven of the ten financial indicators recommended in
the CICA Research Report are presented below.  Two of the other three indicators are
national indicators and their relevance to assessing the Province’s financial condition is
not clear.  The third remaining indicator is the Foreign-Held Government Debt-to-Net
Government Debt.  Foreign held debt information (foreign investors holding Manitoba
debentures) can only be derived from the paying agents’ records.  The cost of obtaining
this information is considered to outweigh the benefits of presenting it.  The Annual
Report of the Province of Manitoba for the year ended March 31, 2006 included five of
these financial indicators, [Net] Debt-to-GDP, Debt Servicing Charges-to-Revenues, Own
Source Revenues-to-GDP, Government-to-Government [Federal] Transfers-to Own Source
Revenues and Foreign Currency Debt-to-Net Government Debt which is described as
Unhedged Foreign Debt as a percentage of Net Debt.

Sustainability Indicators
• (Net) Debt-to-GDP ratio measures the level of net debt (total liabilities

less financial assets) a government carries as percentage of its Gross
Domestic Product (see Appendix J).  An increasing Debt-to-GDP ratio
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means that the debt burden on taxpayers is growing and more of the
government’s future revenues will be required to repay that debt.  The
Province’s (Net) Debt-to-GDP ratio over the five year period presented,
on a restated basis, reached its highest point in 2004.  In 2005, the
indicator dropped significantly and dropped further in 2006.  The
Federal Government’s target for this ratio was set in its 2006 Budget at
25% by 2014/15.  The Government of Manitoba has not established a
target ratio.

FIGURE 3A

• (Surplus) Deficit-to-GDP ratio measures the difference between
government annual revenues and expenses as a percentage of GDP.  It
can be used to identify the annual surplus (deficit) that would be
required to stabilize the Debt-to-GDP ratio at a specified rate of
economic growth.  For instance, if the rate of the growth in the
economy is 3% and interest rates are 5%, then if all other factors
remaining the same, the Debt-to-GDP ratio will increase.  In order to
stabilize the Debt-to-GDP ratio in this situation, revenue must exceed
program expenses to offset the difference in the rate of growth in the
economy compared to the level of interest rates.  The target used for
the (Surplus) Deficit [Annual]-to-GDP ratio of the Federal Government
was 2.0 % (surplus) according the CICA Scorecard (Measuring Progress:
The State of Federal Government Finances) prepared in 2001/02.  The
Government of Manitoba has not established a target ratio.
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FIGURE 3B

Flexibility Indicators
• Debt service charges as a percentage of revenues show the percentage of

revenue that is used to service the debt and also show the impact of
increasing a government’s net debt.  Higher net debt puts pressure on
interest rates, and higher interest rates result in increased debt
servicing costs which reduce the revenue available to spend on
programs.  The target used for the Debt Servicing Charges-to-Revenues
ratio of the Federal Government was 16.0% according to the CICA
Scorecard (Measuring Progress:  The State of Federal Government
Finances) prepared in 2001/02.  The Province’s interest costs as a
percentage of revenues have been steadily decreasing.  The continued
trend is a positive development.  The Government of Manitoba has not
established its target ratio.

FIGURE 4A
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• Own Source Revenues-to-GDP shows the impact of raising government
revenue as a percentage of income in the economy.  A steady increase
in this ratio is a warning to a government in terms of its ability to
increase these revenues in the future.  The Federal Government’s target
was 16.0% according to the CICA Scorecard (Measuring Progress:  The
State of Federal Government Finances) prepared in 2001/02.  The
Province’s ratio, on a restated basis, has been increasing since the 2004
fiscal year.  The Government of Manitoba has not established its target
ratio.

FIGURE 4B

• Changes in Physical Capital Stock (tangible capital assets including
infrastructure) is an indication of the extent of deferred capital
maintenance.  Deferring capital maintenance delays when capital stock
is maintained or restored, and generally results in higher costs when
the maintenance is performed because of an increased level of
deterioration.  This ratio indicates the pace of the spending to replace
tangible capital assets and it is usually reflected as the percentage
change in the net book value (cost less accumulated amortization) year
over year.  The limited trend available, on a restated basis, indicates an
increase in spending by the Province.
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FIGURE 4C

Vulnerability Indicators
• Government-to-Government Transfers-to-Own Source Revenues is, in a

provincial government context, the dependence of a government on
federal government transfers (revenue).  The trend of this ratio
indicates an increasing dependence on federal government transfers
except for 2006.  The 2006 ratio, on a restated basis, reflects a decrease
in the relative dependence on federal government transfers.  The
Government of Manitoba has not established its target ratio.

It should be noted that the increase in federal transfers in essence was
provided to restore past funding cuts to all provinces, including
Manitoba, and as well some of the federal funding mechanisms have
resulted in multi-year transfers being provided in a lump sum that
would otherwise have been received as annual transfers.  Between 2002
and 2005, the federal government increased its funding for provincial
health and social programs so as to substantially restore its share of the
costs of delivering these services, which had declined with the
introduction of the Canada Health and Social Transfer in 1997.  That
increase is comprised of higher entitlements under the new Framework
arrangements announced by the federal government in October 2004.
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CONTINUING FOCUS TOWARD THE SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIGURE 5A

• Foreign Currency Debt-to-Net Government Debt is the debt payable in
foreign currencies as a percentage of net government debt.  It is an
indicator of the potential impact of foreign currency exchange rates of
the Canadian dollar relative to foreign currencies which can increase
debt servicing costs and the cost of repaying the debt.  The Province
believes that for the past three years that they have fully hedged
(eliminated) this risk through their activities.  Even without the effects
of hedging, the percentage of foreign currency debt to net debt in
2006 compared with 2002 indicates a significant decrease.

FIGURE 5B
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Summary of Recommendations
Discussion leading to the following recommendations is presented in further detail within
this report’s section “Public Accounts - Improvements and Recommendations”.

Recommendation 1
That the Government continue to report progress toward its
commitment to implement summary budgeting by 2007/08 to the
Members of the Legislative Assembly and the public on a regular basis.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
The Manitoba Government remains committed to the presentation of its
budget and other financial reports on a Summary basis.  Progress has
already been demonstrated to the Members of the Legislative Assembly and
the public in published financial reports, such as the 2004/05 and 2005/
06 Summary Financial Statements.  The Government will produce the
2007/08 Budget on a Summary basis and will continue to demonstrate
further progress in the 2006/07 fiscal year financial statements.

Recommendation 2
That the quarterly reports of the Province, a financial reporting tool,
be prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting
principles framework as soon after the full implementation of summary
budgeting in 2007/08 as practicable.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
As indicated in the response to Recommendation 1, the Manitoba
Government will present its Budget and other financial reports on a
Summary basis.  This will include quarterly reporting, with a view to
implementing as early as practicable following the full implementation of
Summary budgeting and reporting in 2007/08.

Recommendation 3
That the Government continue with its commitment to introduce
amendments to the Financial Administration Act to eliminate the
requirement for separate Consolidated Fund (Operating Fund) Financial
Statements.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
The Manitoba Government is committed to eliminating a separate
Consolidated Fund (Operating Fund) Financial Statement in 2007/08.  In
2007/08, while the primary focus will be the Summary Financial
Statements, the Legislative Assembly will continue to approve the spending
of Government departments, and will require information concerning
revenues from taxes, fees, transfers from other Governments, and revenue
from the operations of crown corporations used to support government
programs and services.
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Recommendation 4
That consideration be given to amending the Balanced Budget
Legislation to refer to the Summary Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
The Manitoba Government has consulted with various interest groups and
business leaders, as well as the Auditor General as it considers changes
that appropriately reflect the Government’s goals of maintaining financial
discipline and protecting essential services in the context of Summary
Budget reporting.

Recommendation 5
That Internal Auditing and Consulting Services revisit their role and
expand their work on an annual basis to test controls over financial
reporting, including computer application controls in SAP and other
significant information systems. Where practical, expand the work to
include general computer controls.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
Internal Audit and Consulting Services is in the process of developing a
long-term corporate audit strategy to provide sufficient and timely
assurance services to assist the Office of the Provincial Comptroller in
monitoring and evaluating financial processes and systems integrity
throughout the provincial government.  This strategy will include an
enhanced risk based approach and a focus on effective comptrollership
practices at the departmental level.  Increased emphasis will be placed on
government wide and horizontal audit approaches, which should result in
enhanced reporting on systematic findings and best practices.  Further,
the role envisioned includes improved annual reviews of SAP and other
significant information systems to clearly assess the adequacy of security
practices and controls for ensuring the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of information electronically stored, processed or transmitted.

Recommendation 6
That managers be given purchasing approval rights in SAP in
accordance with Department Delegation of Financial Signing Authority
Charts.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
Executive Financial Officers in each department are charged with the
responsibility of ensuring that appropriate control processes are in place,
including purchasing approval rights.  Delegation of signing authorities
and purchasing approval rights, including setting the corresponding
approval rights in SAP, are a departmental responsibility.  Monitoring and
documenting of this is an ongoing activity and integral to the overall
management of SAP. This responsibility has been communicated to all
departments.  As noted, departments are required to address this issue in
their departmental Comptrollership plans.
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Recommendation 7
That the system of Department Delegation of Financial Signing
Authority Charts, including specimen signature cards, be reviewed for
improving, possibly through automation, the maintenance and
availability of the documentation.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
The structure of Department Delegation of Financial Signing Authority
Charts, is documented within the Financial Administration Manual.
Departments are reminded annually of their responsibility to the
maintenance of these charts.  The structure and process continues to be
reviewed for possible improvements.

Recommendation 8
That the Comptroller’s Office monitors the purchasing approval rights of
users in SAP to ensure that such rights are not excessive and comply
with the requirements of the Financial Administration Manual.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
The Comptroller’s Office will continue to review this process to ensure that
the purchasing approval rights assigned to users in SAP are within
specified guidelines and approved departmental delegated authorities,
and that they are being provided in accordance with the requirements of
the Financial Administration Manual.

Recommendation 9
That the Comptroller’s Office in collaboration with the Office of the CIO
review the use of security software tools to better manage the risks
involving users with incompatible duties.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
IT Security continues to be a primary focus of the Government.  The
Comptroller’s Office and the CIO continue to evaluate the security design of
the financial and HR access roles in SAP, with a view to providing a more
enhanced architectured structure of SAP security, as well as streamlining
the security maintenance requirements.

Recommendation 10
That the Comptroller’s Office in collaboration with the Office of the CIO
ensure that business impact analyses be conducted on a coordinated
basis by Departments to help develop suitable plans to recover
computer processing capabilities in response to adverse events that
disrupt computer processing services or facilities.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
A Business Continuity Planning (BCP) initiative is being led by Manitoba
EMO and includes a plan to recover computer processing capabilities in
response to adverse events that disrupt computer processing services or
facilities.  The Risk Management unit of ICT Services in the Department of
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Science, Technology, Energy, & Mines is working on this business
resumption plan for IT services, as part of the larger government-wide
initiative on overall Business Continuity Planning (BCP).

Recommendation 11
That the business impact analyses be used on a coordinated basis to
develop suitable plans to continue critical business functions in
response to adverse events that disrupt business operations.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
Further to our response to Recommendation 10, the overall BCP plan will
incorporate best practices from Disaster Recovery Institute International,
Standards Australia International, NFPA 1600 – Standard on Disaster
Management/Business Continuity Programs, and from discussions with
other provinces that have developed BCP Programs.  The Business
Continuity Teams established will identify mission critical or vital functions
prioritized based on severity, evaluate associated risks, and the required
recovery times and steps in order to recover key operating functions of the
government.

Recommendation 12
That disaster recovery and business continuity plans be documented
and tested to ensure their effectiveness.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
Further to our response to Recommendations 10 and 11, as part of the
development of the Business Continuity Plan, there is a requirement for
BCP Team leaders to provide documented BCP Plans for each department,
including significant detail regarding mission critical or vital functions,
resources required, recovery time required, and the business owner
responsible for actioning.  The initiative also includes plans for testing.

Recommendation 13
That the Government develop suitable, generally accepted criteria to be
used in determining an amount of emergency expenditures to be
excluded under Section 3(2) of the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment,
and Taxpayer Accountability Act or under the amended legislation and
communicate these criteria to the Members of the Legislative Assembly.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
The Government is consulting the Auditor General as it develops changes
that appropriately reflect the Government’s goals of maintaining financial
discipline and protecting essential services in the context of Summary
Budget reporting.
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Recommendation 14
That the Government develop a plan to discharge its obligations for
vacation and severance pay to the various government organizations
involved.  That the Government also clearly communicate to these
organizations, the portion of the annual funding provided by the
Province, if any, that relates to the increase in vacation and severance
pay liabilities.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
Response included under Recommendation 15.

Recommendation 15
That the Government develop a plan to discharge its loans from and
funding commitments to government organizations for pension
liabilities.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
In response to Recommendations 14 and 15, the Manitoba Government is
considering options regarding treatment of these liabilities, and will
consider these Recommendations in its deliberations.  It should be noted
that these liabilities are accounting accruals, not cash requirements.  The
Manitoba Government has communicated to organizations that they are
expected to manage increases to these liabilities within their current
funding levels.

Recommendation 16
That the Province of Manitoba continue to reshape its Annual Report
into a document that more closely reflects PSAB’s Statement of
Recommended Practice on Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis
and PSAB’s  Statement of Recommended Practice on Public Performance
Reporting.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
Manitoba is committed to advancing the way in which performance is
reported to citizens, and has made important progress in this area in
2005/06 with the release of two public documents – the first ever overall
government report on performance, Reporting to Manitobans on
Performance: 2005 Discussion Document, and The 2005 Provincial
Sustainability Report.   In addition, for the first time, all departments
have included a separate section on performance measures in their
2005/06 annual reports.  These reports are now more easily available to
the public through the Department of Finance website.

Manitoba will also continue to make changes to the provincial Annual
Report as part of the implementation of summary budgeting and
reporting.
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Recommendation 17
That the Province of Manitoba further assist departments to improve
performance measurement and reporting through guidance based on the
CICA Statement of Recommended Practice on Public Performance
Reporting.

RESPONSE FROM OFFICIALS
Manitoba continues to be committed to enhancing performance reporting,
including supporting performance reporting as it relates to departmental
planning and management.

As noted in the response to Recommendation #16, in 2005, Manitoba
published Reporting to Manitobans on Performance: 2005 Discussion
Document http://www.gov.mb.ca/finance/mbperformance/index.html ,
which was the first integrated document highlighting major areas of
performance across government departments. The document featured 16
major performance measures, across four categories: economy, people,
community and environment.

Also in 2005, the first edition of the Provincial Sustainability Report was
published http://www.gov.mb.ca/conservation/susresmb/indicators/
index.html .  This document reported public performance indicators across
a number of areas, with a focus on sustainability in the categories of
natural environment, economy (including consumption and waste
management) and social well-being.

For the 2005/06 fiscal year, revised requirements for departmental
annual reporting were introduced with the goal of enhancing the profile
and accessibility of performance reporting in departmental annual
reports. A standardized section is now included in each annual report,
providing a selection of departmental performance measures with an
explanation of their relevance, a discussion of issues, and trend
information where it is available.  These reports are available on-line to
the public.

To support the development of skills and capacity for this effort, a series of
workshops was conducted in early 2006 for senior financial management,
program management and planners across government.  In addition,
several customized presentations and workshops were provided throughout
the year for departments that requested more guidance.



OVERVIEW OF THE PUBLIC
ACCOUNTS





FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2006    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    |

OVERVIEW OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

31

Financial Reporting Structure

FIGURE 6

The Public Accounts of Manitoba represent the annual financial statements for the
Province of Manitoba (Province).  These financial statements provide an important link in
an essential chain of public accountability.  They are the principal means by which the
Government reports to the Legislative Assembly and to all Manitobans on its stewardship
of public funds.

The Public Accounts are prepared in accordance with The Financial Administration Act and
contain the financial statements and supporting information required by this legislation.
The Public Accounts also includes information required by other legislation such as The
Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act and by The Public Sector
Compensation Disclosure Act.

Public Accounts are represented by two distinct sets of financial statements.  The
Summary Financial Statements are the General Purpose statements of the Government.
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They provide audited information on the aggregate financial affairs and resources for
which the Government is responsible, including government business enterprises and
crown organizations as listed in Appendix E.  The Summary Financial Statements are
prepared in accordance with public sector accounting standards (as issued by the Public
Sector Accounting Board [PSAB]) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
(CICA), except for the non-consolidation of public school divisions.  These statements are
the appropriate statements to use when comparing the operating results and the financial
position of the Province to other provinces and the federal government.  The
consolidated net income reported in the Summary Financial Statements of the
Government for 2005/06 was $375 million.

The other set of financial statements presented in the Public Accounts are the Financial
Statements of the Operating Fund and Special Funds.  They are Special Purpose in nature
and are used as the Government’s accountability report to the Legislative Assembly on
revenues raised and expenditures made as authorized by The Appropriation Act and other
statutory spending authorities.  These financial statements are also used to reflect the
Government’s compliance with The Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer
Accountability Act.  For 2005/06 the Government recorded a positive balance of $31
million including the interfund transfer to the Debt Retirement Fund and, therefore, was
in compliance with balanced budget legislation.  These statements do not incorporate the
Government’s unfunded pension liabilities or the results of other organizations controlled
by the Government as included in the Summary Financial Statements.

The Public Accounts for the 2005/06 fiscal year are published in four volumes.  The
preceding chart illustrates the structure of the Government’s financial reporting in the
Public Accounts.

Volume 1, Province of Manitoba Annual Report, contains:

• the audited Summary Financial Statements;
• the audited Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund

and Special Funds (Operating Fund);
• the Minister of Finance’s comments for the year ended March 31, 2006;
• information on the Manitoba economy;
• discussions on financial indicators; and
• variance explanations for both the Summary Financial Statements and

the Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund.

Volume 2, Supplementary Information, contains details of employee compensation of
$50,000 or more, as well as information on other payments from the Operating Fund in
excess of $5,000 to corporations, firms, individuals, other governments and government
agencies.  The information on employee compensation of $50,000 or more is audited as
required by The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act.  The information on other
payments from the Operating Fund to corporations, firms, individuals, other governments
and government agencies is unaudited.

Volume 3, Supplementary Schedules and Other Statutory Reporting Requirements, provides
additional information on the Operating Fund of the Government.  This financial
information is unaudited with the exception of the Report of Amounts Paid to MLAs and
the Northern Affairs Fund.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2006    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 33

OVERVIEW OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Volume 4, The Financial Statements of Funds, Organizations, Agencies and Enterprises
Comprising the Government Reporting Entity, contains the individual audited financial
statements of the various entities controlled by the Government which are included in
the Government Reporting Entity for the Province of Manitoba, except for the Operating
Fund and Special Operating Agencies (SOAs).  (However, Volume 4 contains the financial
statements for the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority.)  The audited
financial statements of SOAs are included in a separate annual report prepared for the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority.

Accountability Organization

FIGURE 7

Figure 7 provides an overview of the accountability organization of the provincial public
sector.  It is not intended to represent all parties or relationships involved, but rather to
emphasize that various levels that exist, and that accountability to the public is relevant
at all levels.

It can be used when considering accountability at various levels within Provincial
operations reflecting the Government’s accountability to citizens, to the Legislative
Assembly, Departments’ and Provincial public sector entities’ accountability to the
Government, Deputy Minister’s or Board’s accountability to a Minister, and management’s
accountability to a Deputy Minister.
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Auditor Independence and Objectivity
As a member of the legislative audit community, we maintain the highest standards of
independence and objectivity in the conduct of our audits.  In Manitoba, our audit role
has included an involvement with prospectuses as well as the financial statement audit of
the Public Accounts and other organizations.  We do not provide non-assurance services
such as designing or implementing a hardware or software system, valuation services,
financial statement preparation or bookkeeping services, legal services or internal audit
services.  In the private sector, provision of these services by external auditors and
inadequate rotation of the audit partner have been identified as contributing to failures
to provide the high level of assurance associated with generally accepted auditing
standards.

Because legislative auditors report directly to the Legislative Assembly, we are
independent of government.  Further, because we have no financial interest in
organizations we audit, and do not benefit from the audit fees we charge, we are less
vulnerable to independence threats existing in the private sector.

Similarly, the threat that we might become too sympathetic to an audited organization’s
interests to maintain our objectivity is dealt with in the political process by the
requirement for periodic general elections as well as the ten year term of the
appointment of the Auditor General.  In addition, staff rotation on the audit of the
Public Accounts and the influence of the broader legislative audit community assist us in
maintaining our objectivity.

During the past year we maintained our communication with audit committees or their
equivalents and continued to take steps to ensure that the private sector auditors of the
organizations within the government reporting entity adhered to independence and
conflict of interest standards.

We believe that we provide a high level of assurance in our reports to the Legislative
Assembly, and therefore to the citizens of Manitoba, and we will continue to ensure our
independence and objectivity in all our work.

Our staff members are required to disclose any conflicts of interest each year.  We are
guided by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Manitoba, whose rules of professional
conduct prohibit anyone from auditing an organization where they were an officer or
director within the last year.

The current Auditor General’s involvement as a director of the board at Manitoba Hydro-
Electric Board, prior to her appointment in July 2006, required the Deputy Auditor
General to sign the audit opinions for the Public Accounts for the year ended March 31,
2006.
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Summary Financial Statements - Auditor’s
Report
The Government continues to commit to financial reporting focused on the Summary
Financial Statements and to eliminate published audited Special Purpose Financial
Statements by the 2007/08 fiscal year.

The Auditor’s Report on the Summary Financial Statements is included for reference in
Appendix A at the end of this report, along with the Summary Financial Statements for
the year ended March 31, 2006 contained in Appendix B.

The Auditor General Act requires the Auditor General to provide assurance to the
Legislative Assembly on the annual Public Accounts and other accountability documents
prepared by the Government.  To address this mandate, the office issues high level
assurance reports in the format of the standard auditor’s report recommended by the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA).

The purpose of the auditor’s report is to provide the reader with a high level of assurance
on the fairness of financial statements, while describing the distinct roles of management
and the auditor with respect to these financial statements, and outlining the nature and
scope of audit work conducted.

An unqualified auditor’s report, where there is no reservation of opinion, contains three
standard paragraphs.  The introductory paragraph identifies the financial statements that
have been audited and reflects management’s responsibility for preparing the financial
statements as well as the auditor’s responsibility for expressing an opinion on the
fairness of the balances, transaction totals and overall presentation.  The second
paragraph describes the nature and extent of the auditor’s work and the degree of
assurance that the auditor’s report provides.  It refers to Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards (GAAS) and describes some of the important procedures the auditor
undertakes.  The third paragraph contains the auditor’s opinion or conclusion based on
the audit conducted.

The Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the CICA sets generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) for the public sector in Canada.  PSAB pronouncements
represent the consensus of senior government officials, legislative auditors and other
experts in public sector accounting across Canada.  They represent standards for
governments and are the benchmark for acceptable financial reporting.

The auditor’s reports issued by Manitoba’s Auditor General, as well as by other legislative
auditors across Canada reflect the extent to which government financial statements
comply with these auditing, accounting and financial reporting standards.  In situations
where government financial statements do not comply with PSAB standards, legislative
auditors consider the need to include a reservation in their opinion.  These standards are
designed to apply to the Summary Financial Statements of the Government.

For the year ended March 31, 2006, the Auditor’s Report on the Summary Financial
Statements included a reservation (third paragraph) for the non-consolidation on public
school divisions’ financial statements.
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• The reservation stated that the effects of the non-consolidation of public
school divisions on the reported assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,
and the information provided by way of notes to the financial statements
cannot be determined. (Public school divisions were added to the
Reporting Entity of the Government of the Province of Manitoba
commencing with the 2005/06 fiscal year).

• The opinion paragraph stated that except for the effects of the inability to
consolidate the assets, liabilities and operating results of public school
divisions, the Government of the Province of Manitoba prepared Summary
Financial Statements that were in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (for senior governments).

This reservation is expected to continue until the 2007/08 fiscal year when it is
anticipated that the Government will be able to consolidate the financial position and
operating results of public school divisions in accordance with public sector accounting
standards.  We discuss this issue further in this Report in a section entitled
“Consolidating Public School Divisions”.

In Manitoba, the Summary Financial Statements are presented in the Annual Report,
together with the Auditor General’s Report thereon.  In 2005/06, the Auditor’s Report
was signed by the Deputy Auditor General.

Special Purpose Financial Statements of
the Operating Fund and Special Funds -
Auditor’s Report

AUDIT OPINION ON THE SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE OPERATING FUND AND SPECIAL FUNDS
The Auditor’s Report on the Special Purpose Financial Statements of the Operating Fund
and Special Funds is included for reference in Appendix C, along with the Operating Fund
and Special Funds Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2006 contained in
Appendix D.

As mentioned previously, the Financial Statements of the Operating and Special Funds
(Operating Fund) are special purpose in nature.  They currently serve as the Government’s
accountability report to the Legislative Assembly on revenues raised and expenditures
made as authorized by The Appropriation Act and other statutory spending authorities.
These financial statements are specifically used to reflect the Government’s compliance
with The Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act and The
Financial Administration Act.

Special Purpose Financial Statements are by their nature incomplete and often deviate
significantly from GAAP.  Hence, while required for reporting on compliance with
balanced budget legislation, they are not complete for understanding the Government’s
management of its financial affairs.  These statements focus only on one component of
the government reporting entity.  Proponents claim they are relevant because they show
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tax supported activities of government.  However, this argument is flawed for at least
three reasons:

1. In 2006, $700 million of Operating Fund revenue was from Crown
Corporations.

2. The Operating Fund ignores pension costs that will ultimately have to
be paid through taxes.

3. “Rainy Day” Fund transfers are essentially left over money from the sale
of MTS and multi-year federal transfers (Canada Health Transfers and
Equalization Transfers).

FIGURE 8

FIGURE 9
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Because of the changes to generally accepted auditing standards effective for the
2003/04 fiscal year and thereafter, the Auditor’s Report on the Special Purpose Financial
Statements of the Operating Fund and Special Funds has continued to include a more
detailed reference to the fact that the financial statements are special purpose and not
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  The
Auditor’s Report no longer states that the Special Purpose Financial Statements are fairly
presented mainly because of the limitations of the Special Purpose Financial Statements,
which are discussed in the opinion as follows:

“These financial statements report transactions and events of the
Operating Fund and Special Funds only.  Significant financial
activities of the Government occur outside of these funds.  Therefore,
readers should not use these special purpose financial statements to
understand and assess the Government’s overall management of public
financial affairs and provincial resources.

The Summary Financial Statements are complete financial statements.
Their purpose is to report the full nature and extent of the overall
financial affairs and resources of the Province of Manitoba for which
the Government is responsible.

Please refer to the Summary Financial Statements to understand and
assess the Government’s management of public financial affairs and
provincial resources as a whole.”

In addition, there are also paragraphs following the opinion paragraph, which
emphasized the special purpose nature of the financial statements and the fact that they
are intended for the Legislative Assembly as legislators reviewing compliance with
Balanced Budget Legislation and identified exceptions from GAAP as follows:

“Exceptions from Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

These financial statements, which have not been, and were not intended
to be, prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector (GAAP), are solely for the
information and use of the Members of the Legislative Assembly for the
purpose of determining compliance with The Balanced Budget, Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act.  The financial statements are
not intended to be and should not be used by lenders, bond rating
agencies, citizens, or anyone other than the specified users or for any
other purpose.  Specifically, these statements should not be used to assess
the fiscal performance of the government as this information is only
available in the Summary Financial Statements.

The Special Purpose Statement of Revenue and Expense along with the
Special Purpose Statement of Calculation of Balance under The Balanced
Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act should be
analyzed in two parts.  The first part, showing the calculation of Net
Result for the year, has been determined using the accounting policies
described in Note 1 to the Special Purpose Financial Statements.  These
accounting policies differ materially from Canadian GAAP as described in
Note 1, and therefore do not result in fair presentation.  The second part
is where the Net Result for the year is adjusted as authorized by The
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Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act to
determine a Positive Balance as defined by the Act.  These adjustments,
specifically inter-fund transfers, would not be included in the Special
Purpose Statement of Revenue and Expense and a Special Purpose
Statement of Calculation of Balance under The Balanced Budget, Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act would not be produced had
Canadian GAAP been used.

If Canadian GAAP had been used in the preparation of the Special
Purpose Financial Statements, financial assets would increase by
$199 million (2005 - $246 million), non-financial assets would increase
by $1,826 million (2005 - $1,707 million), liabilities would increase by
$2,390 million (2005 - $2,649 million), net debt would increase by
$2,191 million (2005 - $2,403 million), accumulated deficit would
increase by $365 million (2005 - $696 million), revenue including net
income from government business enterprises would increase by
$2,209 million (2005 - $1,871 million), and expenses would increase by
$2,062 million (2005 - $1,854 million).  As well, the effects of the non-
consolidation of public school divisions on the reported assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses, and the information provided by way of notes to
the financial statements cannot be determined.

The details of the exceptions to GAAP are separately disclosed and where possible,
quantified, in Note 1 to the Special Purpose Financial Statements for the year ended
March 31, 2006 as reproduced in Appendix D.

Opinion Paragraph

Our opinion paragraph this year again excluded the word ‘fairly’ from ‘presents fairly’.
This elimination is because of the limitations inherent in the Special Purpose Financial
Statements in terms of presenting the financial position and operations of the
government reporting entity of Province of Manitoba.  It was also used to reinforce to
the reader that only the Summary Financial Statements should be used to assess the
Government‘s management of the Province of Manitoba’s financial affairs and resources.

PENSION LIABILITIES EXCLUDED FROM THE OPERATING FUND
In 1990, our office issued our first audit qualification for pension liabilities not being
recorded in the Financial Statements of the Operating Fund.  Each year since then we
have recommended the Government amend its accounting policy for pension costs and
liabilities.  In 2005/06, the unrecorded pension liability for the Operating Fund
approximated $4.0 billion.

In 1999/00, the Government issued the Summary Financial Statements and the Financial
Statements of the Operating Fund in a single volume with the Financial Statements of the
Operating Fund subordinate to the Summary Financial Statements.  As the pension
liability is recorded in the Summary Statements, the impact on the entire Government
Reporting Entity including the Operating Fund is transparent.
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Starting in 2000/01, the Government committed to set aside funds equal to the pension
contributions for all civil servants and teachers hired on or after April 1, 2000.  They
also committed to set aside additional funds from time to time for the future retirement
of the pension liability.  Effective October 1, 2002, departments and Crown Organizations
also began setting aside funds equal to the pension contributions of civil servants hired
on or after October 1, 2002, in effect, matching contributions, as part of their annual
budget.  Total funds set aside since the 2001 fiscal year including net investment income
have amounted to $537 million or 14% of the unrecorded pension liability outstanding
at March 31, 2006.



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS - IMPROVEMENTS
AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Note:  All official Provincial responses to our recommendations are
contained in the Summary of Recommendations Section.
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Significant Improvements in Financial
Statement Reporting

SUMMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION AND
DISCLOSURE

We routinely advise the Comptroller, the Deputy Minister of Finance, and the Minister of
Finance of opportunities to improve financial statement reporting in accordance with the
current recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).  There were
significant improvements reflected in the Summary Financial Statements for the year
ended March 31, 2006, as follows:

• Adoption of the redefined Reporting Entity of the Government of the
Province of Manitoba based on control and consolidating nine
additional entities, consisting of eight existing crown organizations
and one new crown organization;

• Partial recognition of the Province’s environmental liabilities; and

• Revision of the financial statement presentation related to contractual
obligations and contingent liabilities including the use of derivative
financial instruments.

ADOPTION OF THE NEW GOVERNMENT REPORTING ENTITY
The Government redefined its Reporting Entity (GRE) based on solely control in
accordance with the change in PSAB standards, effective April 1, 2005.  This redefinition
of the GRE resulted in the consolidation of all the previous entities in the GRE as well as
eight additional crown organizations, and the plan to consolidate all the public school
divisions for the year ending 2007/08.  The crown organizations added to the GRE were
the University of Winnipeg, Collège universitaire de Saint-Boniface, the First Nations and
Metis Child and Family Authorities, Manitoba Tire Stewardship Board, Sport Manitoba
Inc., and the St. Amant Centre (a component of the Winnipeg Regional Health Authority).
All of these crown organizations were consolidated in the 2005/06 Summary Financial
Statements.  However, because the financial statements of the thirty-eight public school
divisions were not prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), they were not consolidated in the Summary Financial Statements for
the year ended March 31, 2006.

The Government through its Summary Financial Reporting Project has developed a plan
which will require public school divisions to prepare GAAP financial statements

Improving financial statement presentation and disclosure is an ongoing process.
We have advocated for a considerable number of years for the full adoption of
GAAP in the preparation of the Summary Financial Statements.  The Government
has committed to consolidate public school divisions’ financial statements and
prepare Summary Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP by 2007/08.
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commencing with their fiscal year ending June 30, 2007 and will also require them to
provide the necessary financial information to enable the Government to fully
consolidate the financial position and operating results of public school divisions in the
Summary Financial Statements for the 2007/08 fiscal year.  Public school divisions are
presently gathering the financial information needed to prepare financial statements in
accordance with GAAP (using public sector accounting standards) for their 2006/07
fiscal year.  We discuss these issues further in this Report in a section titled,
“Consolidating Public School Divisions”.

The new Government Reporting Model PSAB standard states that the GRE should be
defined based solely on control, not on accountability and ownership and/or control
which were the bases of the former standard.  Control is defined by PSAB as follows:

“the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another
organization with expected benefits or the risk of loss to the government
from the other organization’s activities … a government may choose not
to exercise its power; nevertheless, control exists by virtue of the
government’s ability to do so.  Control must exist at the financial
statement date, without the need to amend legislation or agreements.”

The existence of control can be viewed as working along a continuum.  At one end of the
continuum, it is clear that the entity does not have the power to act independently and
is controlled by the government.  At the other end, the entity has the power to act
independently and while the government may influence the entity, it is evident that the
government does not control the entity.  For entities falling between the two ends of the
continuum, PSAB has offered guidance as to what indicators of control might be
considered in evaluating whether control exists.

PSAB has provided a listing of the more persuasive indicators of control as well as
suggested other indicators that could be used to evaluate whether control exists.  PSAB’s
more persuasive indicators are:

• “government has the power to unilaterally appoint or remove a majority
of the members of the governing body of the organization;

• government has ongoing access to the assets of the organization, has the
ability to direct the ongoing use of those assets, or has ongoing
responsibility for losses;

• government holds the majority of the voting shares or a “golden share”
that confers the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
the organization; and

• government has the unilateral power to dissolve the organization and
thereby access its assets and become responsible for its obligations”.

Other indicators recommended by PSAB for consideration are:

• “provide significant input into the appointment of members of the
governing body of the organization by appointing a majority of those
members from a list of nominees provided by others or being otherwise
involved in the appointment or removal of a significant number of
members;

• appoint or remove the CEO or other key personnel;
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• establish or amend the mission or mandate of the organization;

• approve the business plans or budgets for the organization and require
amendments, either on a net or line-by-line basis;

• establish borrowing or investment limits or restrict the organization’s
investments;

• restrict the revenue-generating capacity of the organization, notably the
sources of revenue; and

• establish or amend the policies that the organization uses to manage,
such as those relating to accounting, personnel, compensation, collective
bargaining or deployment of resources”.

However, in order to determine whether control exists, each indicator would be
evaluated in the circumstances and the degree of government influence would determine
how important the indicator is in terms of providing evidence of control.  The weight
given to an indicator also depends on the circumstances.  For example, an entity’s
compliance with regulatory authority does not, in and of itself, constitute control if the
government’s interest in the entity only extends to the regulated aspects of its
operations.

Another example is that financial dependence of an organization also does not constitute
control, in and of itself.  The governing body of the entity could be independent with
respect to establishing its financial and operating policies.  The government may require
reporting from the entity to demonstrate compliance with the terms and conditions of
the funding provided and if that is the extent of the government’s interest in the
organization, it does not constitute control.  The organization retains the right to decide
whether it accepts the government funding and the conditions attached to that funding.

As a result, indicators should be considered collectively as well as individually such that
it is the sum of all the evidence that should lead to a conclusion as to whether the
government controls an entity.

This new standard is, in many respects, more inclusive than the former standard as it
looks at the fundamentals of the relationship between the government and the
organization.  Under the former standard, the entity could be excluded if the
government did not have the power to appoint the majority of the governing body.  The
Government’s evaluation, in consultation with the OAG, determined that public school
divisions, the University of Winnipeg, Collège universitaire de Saint-Boniface, the First
Nations and Metis Child and Family Services Authorities (the proportionate share of
operations for children in care within the Province’s jurisdiction), Sport Manitoba Inc.,
Tire Stewardship Board and St. Amant Centre (a component of the Winnipeg Regional
Health Authority should be added to the existing Government Reporting Entity.

Notwithstanding that the Government does not appoint the majority of the governing
boards of these entities or in the case of school divisions does not appoint any school
trustees, the Government does control these entities through other means.  For instance,
school divisions are included in the Government’s Reporting Entity because of the control
exerted by the Government through the Department of Education and Public Schools
Finance Board in such areas as the budgeting process, accounting and financial reporting
practices, capital plans, curricula and ability to borrow for capital purposes.



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 200646

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS - IMPROVEMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Similarly, the University of Winnipeg, and Collège universitaire de Saint-Boniface are
controlled by the Government through the powers of the Council on Post-Secondary
Education regarding operating and capital budgets, changing policies for tuition fees
charged, capital financing as well as the requirement for approval of any new program of
study or changes to a program delivered at the institution, if funded by the Province.
The Child and Family Services Authorities are considered controlled by the Government
because the Province will be responsible for the Authorities’ operating losses, the
Province must approve their operating plans and capital budgeting and the Authorities
have restricted alternate revenue generating capacity.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND DISCLOSURE IMPROVEMENTS
IN THE 2005/06 PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Recognition of Environmental Liabilities

The Province adopted a new accounting policy this year for the recognition and
measurement of its environmental liabilities.  The accounting policy provides for the
phased-in recognition (up to and including the 2008/09 fiscal year) of the Province’s
environmental liabilities resulting from contamination which occurred on or before
March 31, 2005 and for which the Province is obligated or likely to be obligated to
remediate.  The obligation to remediate a site is in order to protect public health and
safety, meet the terms of contractual agreements or comply with environmental
standards in federal, provincial or municipal legislation.  The recognition of these
liabilities which existed as at March 31, 2005 will result in a charge to the accumulated
deficit until March 31, 2009; the charge recorded in the 2005/06 fiscal year was $142
million.  In accordance with the new accounting policy, the Province will perform site
assessments of all the contaminated sites in order to properly quantify the liabilities
using recognized methodology.  The liabilities are measured according to the direct
incremental costs to be incurred less any estimated third party recoveries and discounted
where possible to reflect the time value of money.  The environmental liabilities resulting
from contamination which occurred after March 31, 2005 will be recorded as an expense
in the current year.

Disclosure of Risk Management and the Use of Derivative Financial
Instruments

This year the Province included note disclosure of the Province’s risk management
process involving the use of derivative financial instruments.  Derivatives are used to
address (hedge) interest rate risk and the risks associated with foreign currency
fluctuations of foreign currency denominated debt.  The Province uses primarily forward
(foreign currency) contracts and interest rate and cross currency swaps to manage these
risks.  The Province disclosed the notional value of all its derivative contracts which
totaled $27 billion, as well as the gross and net credit risk exposure (that counterparties
with whom the Province has entered into derivative contracts will default on their
obligations).  For the year ended March 31, 2006, the Province had no credit risk
exposure to its counterparties but had a net liability of $703 million owing to them.
The note disclosure also reflected the impact of a one percent increase in interest rates
on debt servicing costs which was estimated to result in an increase in debt servicing
costs of $13.5 million.
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Previous Recommendations Implemented
Figure 10 summarizes the implementation of OAG recommendations made in the last five
years.

FIGURE 10
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Previous Recommendations Not Yet
Implemented
Figure 11 is a summary of OAG recommendations not yet implemented by the Department
of Finance and/or the Government of Manitoba.

FIGURE 11
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FIGURE 11 (CONT’D.)

SUMMARY BUDGET
Over the past five years, we have noted that, in response to our recommendations, the
Government has prepared an annual summary budget based on the budgets for all entities
included in the Government Reporting Entity and that this budget was presented each
year in the Manitoba Budget Address.  The most recent budget presented in 2006 is,
however, still not presented with the appropriate level of detail needed to compare with
the results in the Summary Financial Statements.

In our view, the Summary Financial Statements and therefore, the Summary Budget are
the Government’s foremost accountability documents.  The benefits for the preparation of
a detailed summary budget are many.  One need only view Schedules 8 and 10 of the
Summary Financial Statements to become aware of the number of entities that compose
the Government Reporting Entity and the fact that considerable financial activity within
the Government Reporting Entity is outside of the Operating Fund.  Without a detailed
summary budget, the Legislative Assembly is not given the necessary depth of financial
information upon which to fully discuss the planned use of public funds.  As well, it is
the comparison of the Summary Financial Statements’ actual results with that detailed
summary budget which permits a thorough analysis of the Province’s financial position
and operating results compared with planned results, and provides the ability to measure
the Government’s management of public resources.

Canada and five of the other Provinces produce summary budgets that are tabled in
Parliament/Legislatures.  The governments of Canada, British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario,
Quebec and New Brunswick have already made the summary budget their primary budget.
These summary budgets are prepared on the same basis as the Summary Financial
Statements of those governments.  Three of these six summary budgets are voted on by
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the members of the Parliament/Legislatures.  Manitoba is still not aligned with these
jurisdictions in this regard.

However, the Government has committed to preparing a full summary budget for the
2007/08 fiscal year.  This summary budget will also incorporate the budgets of the all
the crown organizations included in the new Government Reporting Entity.  We
recommended last year that the Government publicly report on its progress toward that
commitment.  To this end, we note that the Government has released the Report on the
Summary Financial Reporting Project, prepared by a consultant, which documents the
implementation plan as to how the Government will obtain from crown organizations the
additional information necessary to prepare a full summary budget for the 2007/08 fiscal
year.

Recommendation 1

That the Government continue to report progress toward its
commitment to implement summary budgeting by 2007/08 to the
Members of the Legislative Assembly and the public on a regular
basis.

Quarterly Reporting

We believe that the quarterly financial report should be prepared using the same
accounting principles as the Summary Financial Statements, as these provide the most
complete and accurate indication of the Province’s fiscal position.  Our recommendation
on quarterly reporting reflects the high priority issue of encouraging the Government to
adopt the GAAP Framework in its quarterly reports.

The Government has committed to prepare quarterly reports on a summary basis as soon
as is practicable after the 2007/08 fiscal year.  To that end, this year, as mentioned
previously, the Government has released the Report on the Summary Financial Reporting
Project (Report) which states that a staging plan has been developed which would result
in quarterly financial reporting on a Summary GAAP basis commencing in the third
quarter of the 2009/10 fiscal year.  The Report also indicates that in the interim, the
Government anticipates that its quarterly reports will increasingly reflect additional
elements of GAAP and incorporate information from more of the crown organizations in
the Reporting Entity.  As well, systems and processes will be developed to gather the
necessary information, which in the 2008 and 2009 fiscal years will be used for internal
financial reporting purposes.

Last year, the Government discontinued the release of a 4th quarter report.

Recommendation 2

That the quarterly reports of the Province, a financial reporting tool,
be prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting
principles framework as soon after the full implementation of
summary budgeting in 2007/08 as practicable.

First recommended in the 2001
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.  (Updated in 2005.)

First recommended in the 2001
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2006    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 51

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS - IMPROVEMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Planned Full Adoption of GAAP

2005/06 Summary Financial Statements are not Complete GAAP Financial Statements

Five jurisdictions, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Saskatchewan, Alberta and British Columbia
prepare the Public Accounts in accordance with GAAP for senior governments.  For the
year ended March 31, 2006, Manitoba prepared its Summary Financial Statements in
accordance with GAAP except for the non-consolidation of public school divisions.  (The
new Government Reporting Entity recognized in the 2005/06 fiscal year will incorporate
all public school divisions in Manitoba for the year ending March 31, 2008.)

In the preparation of the Estimates of Expenditures and Revenues and the Budget Address,
the Province uses the provisions of The Financial Administration Act (Act) as the basis for
financial accounting and reporting considerations.  According to this Act, Treasury Board
is responsible under Section 5(a) for preparing the estimates and similarly, under
Section 5(f), for ensuring accountability of government departments to the Legislature
for the delivery of government programs.

Under Section 8 of the Act, the Minister of Finance is responsible for the management
and administration of the Department of Finance; the management and administration of
the Consolidated Fund; the management of public debt; and the control and direction of
all matters relating to the financial management of the government that are not assigned
to Treasury Board.  In addition, Section 9 of this Act states that the Minister of Finance
may make regulations and issue directives regarding accounting policies and practices.

Section 65(1) of the Act requires that the Comptroller shall prepare the Public Accounts
including the financial statements of the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the
accounting policies of the Government.  However, it does not state that the accounting
policies of the Government must be in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards for senior governments as recommended by Public Sector
Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.  The Act
does not, however, prohibit the use of Public Sector Accounting Standards for Senior
Governments as the basis for financial reporting in the preparation of the Public
Accounts, Estimates and Quarterly Reports.

In contrast, the Province of British Columbia has entrenched in legislation the use of
Public Sector Accounting Standards for senior governments as recommended by PSAB, in
its Budget Transparency and Accountability Act.  This Act creates an accounting policy
advisory committee to advise Treasury Board as to the implementation of GAAP for the
government reporting entity.  Treasury Board is to establish the accounting policies used
for preparation of the Main Estimates and the Public Accounts.  Treasury Board is also to
establish the accounting policies used for the preparation of Quarterly Reports.  It is
implied that these accounting policies should be GAAP unless otherwise disclosed.

British Columbia’s Budget Transparency and Accountability Act, also incorporates that
wherever public sector accounting standards for senior governments are not used, either
in the Estimates or the Public Accounts, there must be disclosure of any material
variances of those policies from GAAP.  In addition, with regard to Quarterly Reports, if
there is a change in the accounting policies of the Government Reporting Entity which
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would affect, by a prescribed dollar amount, the forecasted deficit or surplus for the
current and next three years, then there must be a public report of it.

While the Manitoba Government has not introduced legislation to entrench the
requirement to prepare significant public financial reports, in accordance with Canadian
Public Sector Accounting Standards for Senior Governments as recommended by the PSAB
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, it plans to consolidate public school
divisions in the 2007/08 Summary Financial Statements and in that fiscal year prepare
full GAAP financial statements.

THE ELIMINATION OF SPECIAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Balanced Budget Legislation - What Is It?

Balanced Budget Legislation, enacted in the fall of 1995 with amendments in 2000, is a
prescribed set of rules incorporated in legislation, in The Balanced Budget, Debt
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act (Act) (see Appendix F).  Those rules (with
variations from GAAP) are used to determine if the Government of the day has generated
a positive balance in the Operating Fund for a fiscal year, meaning generating more
revenue than a defined subset of the expenses incurred and factoring in transfers from
the Fiscal Stabilization Fund and to the Debt Retirement Fund.  According to the Act, the
Government is not to incur a negative balance in the Operating Fund.  The main rules are
as follows:

• An excess of revenue over expenses is determined according to the
accounting policies of the Government as disclosed in the audited
Special Purpose (Operating Fund) Financial Statements.  If there is a
reservation in the Auditor’s Report to the financial statements resulting
from a change in accounting policies not authorized in the Act, then
the financial statements must be restated to ensure that the financial
effects of that change did not result in a positive balance which would
have otherwise, under the former accounting policy(ies), have resulted
in a negative balance.  If a change in accounting policies did result in a
change from a negative to a positive balance, then the government will
not have achieved a balanced budget.

• The existing accounting policies are disclosed as Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles for senior governments as recommended
by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants with certain exceptions.  One notable exception
is the failure to record in the Operating Fund the liability related to the
unfunded pension obligations.  As a result, the change in the unfunded
pension liability is not reflected in the determination of a positive or a
negative balance.

• The Act permits a once a year interfund transfer, a transfer into the
Operating Fund, from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund, often referred to as
the “Rainy Day Fund”, of an amount up to the maximum of the balance
of the Fiscal Stabilization Fund.  That transfer-in is also included in the
determination of the balance according to balanced budget legislation.
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• The Act also prescribes that as a target, an amount equal to 5% of the
year’s expenses in the Consolidated (Operating) Fund or any greater
amount that the Minister (of Finance) considers appropriate is to be
transferred to the Fiscal Stabilization Fund.  Only a positive balance
may be transferred back to the Fiscal Stabilization Fund for use in
future years.  The transfer out is not included in the determination of a
positive or negative balance according to balanced budget legislation.

• Any transfers out of the Debt Retirement Fund to the Operating Fund
for the repayment of the outstanding debt and pension obligations are
not included in the determination of a positive or negative balance
according to balanced budget legislation.

• A calculated amount, (determined to be $110 million for the year
ended March 31, 2006) shall be transferred annually, from the
Operating Fund to the Debt Retirement Fund to provide for the future
retirement of the outstanding debt and pension obligations.  That
transfer out, an interfund transfer, is also to be reflected in the
determination of a positive or negative balance according to balanced
budget legislation.

• The above interfund transfers as noted are included for purposes of
determining if there is a positive balance in the Operating Fund,
according to balanced budget legislation.  However, interfund transfers
are not included in the determination of an excess of revenue over
expenses according to generally accepted accounting principles.
Interfund transfers are not sources of revenue and can be used to
designate and/or restrict the use of certain assets for a specified
purpose such as the future retirement of the outstanding debt or
pension obligations.

• If there is a negative balance in a fiscal year then there must be an
offsetting positive balance in the next fiscal year unless there is a
general election and the party forming the Government has changed.
Then if, in the year of a general election, the party forming the
Government has changed and there is a negative basis, the new
Government is not required to have an offsetting positive balance in the
following year.

• There are financial penalties to the members of the Executive Council
for failing to meet the requirements of the Act.

• The Act does not apply in the case of war or a natural disaster that
affects the Province which could not be anticipated or if there is
greater than a 5% reduction in revenue in the fiscal year, providing the
reduction did not result from a change in Manitoba taxation laws.  The
proceeds from the sale of a Crown Corporation are not to be included in
the determination of a positive balance.

For the first time since the legislation was passed, in 2003/04, the Government invoked
Section 3(2) of the Act to exclude the expenses related to a natural disaster that affects
the Province which could not be anticipated, in the Government’s determination of a
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positive balance under the Act.  A further discussion of this matter appears later in this
section of the Report.

Fiscal Stabilization Fund - What Is It?

The Fiscal Stabilization Fund (Fund) was established under the authority of The Fiscal
Stabilization Fund Act (Act) (see Appendix G), which was enacted in 1989 and was
amended in 2000.  The purpose of the Fund as set out in the Act is to assist in stabilizing
the fiscal position of the government from year to year and to improve long-term fiscal
planning.  The Fund is often referred to as the “Rainy Day Fund”.

In 1989, in its first year of existence, the Government of the day transferred $200 million
from the Operating Fund into the Fund.  That transfer created a $142 million deficit in
the Operating Fund where there would otherwise have been $58 million surplus for the
year ended March 31, 1989.  At the time, we qualified our audit opinion on the $58
million surplus.  Since then there have been other sizable transfers into the Fund
including the net proceeds from the sale of the Crown Corporation, Manitoba Telephone
System, as well as from the greater than budgeted federal transfers, including multi-year
transfers that were paid out in lump sum.

Legislative amendments were made to the Act in 2000.  Consequently, the Government
can no longer deposit in the fund any revenue or other financial assets received by the
Government in a fiscal year ending after March 31, 2000 as a result of selling shares or
assets of a Crown corporation in the course of a privatization of the Crown Corporation
and the Government can only transfer positive balances (from the Operating Fund) - the
transfer cannot create an annual deficit in the Operating Fund.

The primary activities of the Fund are interfund transfers.  The transfers are either
transfers out to the Operating Fund or transfers of any part of a positive balance into the
Fund from the Operating Fund.  The Fiscal Stabilization Fund also earns income on the
investment of the assets of the Fund, which is retained in the Fund until transferred out.

With regard to transfers into the Fund, the Government may deposit in the Fund, any
part of revenue or other financial assets received in the Operating Fund in any fiscal year.
Furthermore, the target level for the Fund is a minimum of 5% of the annual expenses of
the Consolidated (Operating) Fund.

The Government may transfer out of the Fund, all or part of the Fund balance to the
Operating Fund, but the Government may only make one transfer out each fiscal year.

This Fund is used to create a positive balance in the Operating Fund in an amount chosen
each year by the Government.
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FIGURE 12

Conclusion

The Financial Administration Act section 65(1)(a) requires the preparation of financial
statements of the Consolidated Fund.  It also requires that the Auditor General report on
his or her examination of these financial statements.  The Consolidated Fund of the Public
Accounts is more commonly known as the Operating Fund and its financial position and
annual operations are included in the Special Purpose Operating Fund and Special Funds
Financial Statements.

The Special Purpose Financial Statements are prepared primarily in order to reflect
compliance with the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act
(Balanced Budget Legislation).

Only Saskatchewan, Prince Edward Island and Manitoba, include audited Special Purpose
Financial Statements or General (Operating Fund) Financial Statements in their Public
Accounts.

However, as we have noted elsewhere in this report, the Special Purpose Financial
Statements are not appropriate for assessing the government’s fiscal performance.  In
essence, therefore, it is illogical to have balanced budget legislation refer to an
inappropriate set of financial statements.  It would be more appropriate to have the
balanced budget legislation refer to the Summary Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

In keeping with the appropriateness of emphasizing the Summary Financial Statements,
we continue to believe that the Government should reflect any key information from the
Special Purpose Financial Statements in the Summary Financial Statements (in the notes
to the financial statements).  We also believe that the Summary Financial Statements/
Summary Budget should combine budget information from the Operating Fund (Estimates
of Expenditure and Revenues) with detailed budget information from Crown
organizations.  The Government would, therefore, eliminate the need for the preparation
of the Special Purpose Financial Statements and reduce the risk of confusion caused by
having two sets of financial statements publicly presented each year.
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This year, the Province reviewed issues related to amending Balanced Budget Legislation
in the context of the Government’s commitment to Summary Financial Reporting in
accordance with GAAP.  The Government released a consultant’s report entitled
“Modernizing Manitoba’s Financial Accountability Legislation” which provided twelve
recommendations for consideration in revamping the present Balanced Budget
Legislation.  The second recommendation referred to entrenching in legislation the use of
public sector accounting standards (PSAB GAAP) as the basis of accounting for financial
reporting.  The fifth recommendation referred to the use of financial information from
the Summary Financial Statements in the determination of compliance with Balanced
Budget Legislation.  The Report also stated that the “principal implication of the move to
summary reporting is that the Operating and Special Funds will no longer exist as a
discreet, separately measurable (or presented) component of government within the annual
general purpose financial statements”.

Recommendation 3

That the Government continue with its commitment to introduce
amendments to the Financial Administration Act to eliminate the
requirement for separate Consolidated Fund (Operating Fund)
Financial Statements.

Recommendation 4

That consideration be given to amending the Balanced Budget
Legislation to refer to the Summary Financial Statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

ROLE OF INTERNAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING SERVICES
In general, Internal Audit and Consulting Services are not currently involved in activities
such as the following:

• Identifying, documenting, and testing the relevant application controls
for systems significant to financial reporting, such as the SAP system;
and

• Identifying, assessing, and regularly testing relevant general computer
controls.

Many CEOs and CFOs, in both the public and private sector, look to their internal audit
function for assistance evaluating the effectiveness of controls and procedures related to
financial reporting.  Internal audit can play an important role in evaluating and testing
the overall effectiveness of financial reporting controls and procedures, as well as
reporting their findings and conclusions to management and the external auditor.

The Internal Audit and Consulting Services (IACS) Branch of the Department of Finance
provides internal audit and consulting services to management throughout government.
All government departments have access to internal audit services through requesting
work/assistance that IACS may then incorporate into their annual plans for what is
assessed as high priority matters.

First recommended in the 2003
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.

First recommended in the 2003
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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IACS was also initially involved in the implementation of SAP through participation in
the Process and Systems Integrity Team which was responsible for providing expert
advice, guidance and integration of all aspects of internal control and system security for
the SAP project.

SAP was first implemented seven years ago and is an extremely complex system.  IACS
should play a significant and active role in providing assurance as to the effectiveness of
controls at the departmental level.  Ongoing involvement would give IACS the
opportunity to add confidence in the reliability and accuracy of this importance
government-wide system on a continuous basis.

Moreover, an effective internal audit function enhances the control environment of the
entity.  The United States (US) passed legislation, The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to address
concerns created by Enron and other financial disasters.  Those new US standards apply
to publicly traded companies.  One of the US requirements being implemented is that
public companies must make representations regarding the effectiveness of their internal
controls over financial reporting among others.

In Canada, management of publicly traded companies will also be required to make
representations on the effectiveness of the organization’s internal controls over financial
reporting.  While the regulations of provincial securities commissions requiring reporting
on the effectiveness of a company‘s internal controls over financial reporting only apply
to public [publicly traded] companies, we believe that the public expectation that
governments provide these same representations will likely follow.  As well, the Federal
Government, in response to the sponsorship scandal, is expanding the internal audit
function throughout government in order to provide additional assurance on the
adequacy of internal controls within departments affecting financial management and
financial reporting.

As a result, we continue to believe that the internal audit function of the Province
should plan for the expansion of testing of internal controls to enable Provincial senior
administrators to make representations on the effectiveness of their internal control
systems.  The Province’s government-wide information system is SAP and would be a
primary focus for internal control testing.  In past years, we recommended that IACS take
a lead role on an annual basis in the review and testing of SAP controls at the
departmental level and thus have a more significant role in providing assurance as to the
effectiveness of controls at the departmental level as they relate to SAP.  This year, we
understand that the IACS is revisiting their strategic direction which would include
focusing a greater effort on the internal audit function.  We further understand IACS will
begin to undertake testing SAP controls in the Departments in the near future.

In addition, as we noted in the past three years, the revised Comptrollership Framework
was distributed in October 2003 and made reference to an audit function in monitoring
compliance with the authority delegated by the Comptroller to the Departments.  That
delegated authority includes ensuring effective internal control systems among other
responsibilities.  There have been further delays in the completion of the Comptrollership
Plans by some of the Departments and IACS has not been involved with that audit
function in the 2006 fiscal year.  However, we understand that recently, the Comptroller’s
Office allocated staff resources to begin a review of the Departmental Comptrollership
Plans.
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Recommendation 5

That Internal Auditing and Consulting Services revisit their role and
expand their work on an annual basis to test controls over financial
reporting, including computer application controls in SAP and other
significant information systems. Where practical, expand the work to
include general computer controls.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS
The Province of Manitoba (Province) has various information systems of major and minor
significance both centrally and in the departments.  Information systems are integral to
the administration of Province and successful management of their programs.
Identification and review of these information systems are critical.  The components of a
good information system include proper design, sufficient documentation, identification
and use of internal controls as well as the ongoing monitoring of results as intended.
Change is inherent within all information systems and therefore change management is
also important.

As part of our financial statement audit methodology, we gain an understanding of
controls relevant to financial reporting.  This understanding includes controls over
business processes that are significant to financial reporting.  They are called application
controls. Some application controls are manual activities performed by people.

Business processes are generally automated and referred to as information systems.  As
the processes are automated, the application controls tend to be automated, that is the
controls are built into the computer logic or programs.  For example, a computer
program automatically assigns sequential numbers to invoices.  Therefore, proper
functioning of these computer programs is important to financial reporting.

The computer programs operate in a computer environment.  A well-controlled computer
environment provides assurance that the computer programs are functioning properly.
The components of control over the computer environment are called general computer
controls.

The general computer controls relate to the following:

• Computer management control environment;
• Computer operations;
• Acquisition and development of information systems;
• Changes to information systems;
• Logical access to programs and data; and
• Physical computer environment.

Our approach is to assess the general controls for the computer environments supporting
information systems significant to financial reporting.  Some general computer controls,
such as management practices and security policies, are common across the various
computer environments.

Other general computer controls are specific to a computer environment, such as the
configuration of system software that enables the controlled functioning of computers on

First recommended in the 2002
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.  (Updated in 2005 and
2006)
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which automated information systems reside.  This system software includes the
particular computer operating system and database management system software that
support an information system.

Our approach also includes assessing application controls, both automated and manual.
We review the business process activities to determine the controls to be assessed for the
audit.

Some of the more significant information systems within the Province include SAP,
GenTax, Treasury Manager, Social Allowance Management Information Network, public
health systems such as Pharmacare, medical and hospital information systems, in
addition to numerous departmental revenue systems.

One of the most critical information systems in place for the Province is the SAP System
which is used by all government departments, special operating agencies and certain
crown organizations.  Our Office has commented previously on various SAP internal
control issues since it was implemented on April 1, 1999.

SAP
The Province uses SAP as an enterprise solution for its accounting, logistics and human
resource processes.  SAP is a fully integrated computerized accounting and management
information system and functions across multiple departments, agencies, commissions
and sites throughout Manitoba.  SAP allows for the sharing of common data, so
transactions initiated by one business area may have a direct impact on other business
areas.  The broad and detailed functionality that gives the system its flexibility often
results in complex control and security requirements.

Our office identified that the complexity of the controls and security requirements of
SAP creates a new set of challenges to be addressed, as we need to rely on SAP in the
audit of Public Accounts.  To this end, we performed a review of the controls over SAP in
the initial implementation of SAP version 3.1h, and we issued a report on the results of
our review.  A summary of this report was included in the March 31, 1999 Public
Accounts Report to the Legislature.

The Province upgraded from SAP version 3.1h to version 4.6b in November 2000.  We
reviewed the upgrade to determine if there were any changes due to the upgrade that
would affect our reliance on the controls over SAP in our audit of the Public Accounts.
A summary of this report was included in the March 31, 2001 Public Accounts Report to
the Legislature.

For both the initial SAP implementation as well as the 4.6b upgrade there were three
areas which we considered the most critical and were reported on previously.  Our
recommendation regarding the use of critical standard reports was addressed in 2003 and
now two areas remain.  In our 2001 Report to the Legislature we also stated that we
would provide reports to the departments detailing our recommendations based on a
review of the 4.6b upgrade.  We have issued separate reports to the departments and our
follow-up on the implementation of those recommendations has indicated that there was
still further action that needed to be taken by the departments in this regard.  As we
have reported in prior years, we will continue to address the key outstanding issues with
the Comptroller’s Office to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.
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The two remaining areas of recommendations made in prior years are:

1.  Access Rights to SAP

There were three recommendations regarding access rights to SAP as follows:

• We had recommended that departmental managers be provided with
access to SAP and that the management tasks be removed from
administrative staff as soon as possible.  During 2001/02 there was an
initiative for providing targeted access to SAP through the Manager’s
Desktop (MDT) program.  Manager’s Desktop provides managers with
immediate access to a defined subset of management reports for human
resources and financial information.  While approximately 350
managers attended Manager’s Desktop training and went “live” on SAP
in 2001/02, we understand there have been only marginal increases in
its use by managers since then.  While MDT continues to be rolled out,
it is still not mandatory that managers access it.  Increasing MDT’s use
as well as expanding its functionality should continue to be explored.

• Since the implementation of SAP, our concern is that some managers do
not have rights in SAP to approve purchases, in particular the right to
release purchase orders, even though they have been delegated such
authority by Ministers of the Government.

• About 200 individuals have SAP user profiles that include the manager
role (M1) with its Manager’s Desktop functions.  Over half of these
individuals do not have purchasing approval rights, which are the
rights in SAP to release purchase orders or to certify the receipt of
goods and services.  We reviewed the official delegated authority for a
number of these individuals without purchasing approval rights in SAP.
Generally, the individuals that we reviewed were unable to provide
documentation regarding delegated purchasing approval authority per
the Department Delegation of Financial Signing Authority Charts.

Recommendation 6

That managers be given purchasing approval rights in SAP in
accordance with Department Delegation of Financial Signing Authority
Charts.

Recommendation 7

That the system of Department Delegation of Financial Signing
Authority Charts, including specimen signature cards, be reviewed for
improving, possibly through automation, the maintenance and
availability of the documentation.

• We previously recommended that the Comptroller’s Office reinforce the
importance to departments of ensuring the delegated authorities are
properly represented in SAP or that differences from the delegated
authority levels to the levels set in SAP have been approved and

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.  (Updated in 2006)
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documented.  During 2002/03, an SAP report was developed to assist
departments to assess the SAP authority levels, and to ensure
compatibility and comparability.  Distribution of the report to
departments occurred at the December 2002 Council of Executive
Finance Officers (CEFO) meeting.  In accordance with the
Comptrollership Framework, it is the responsibility of each individual
department, rather than a central function, to review delegated
authorities and have the appropriate documentation.

There are over 150 positions across government with the right in SAP to approve
purchases at the highest delegation level of Treasury Board, specifically purchases of
$300,000 and over.  At least 18 of these positions are clerical.  Also, dozens of positions
with the delegation level of $40,000 to $50,000 are clerical.  We reviewed the official
delegated authority for a number of the clerical positions.  None of the positions or
individuals that we reviewed have delegated authority per the Department Delegation of
Financial Signing Authority Charts.  We found examples of positions or individuals that
have significantly less delegated authority per the Department Delegation of Financial
Signing Authority Charts or than the rights set in SAP.  In some cases, the positions have
no delegated authority.

The Financial Administration Manual prohibits financial signing authorities, conferred by
a Minister to organizational positions or individuals, from being re-delegated to
subordinate employees, except as expressly approved by the Minister.  The opportunity
unnecessarily exists for personnel in such positions to incorrectly or fraudulently
approve a transaction and not be detected on a timely basis.  Managers reviewing paper
lists of transactions processed in SAP will not prevent and might not detect incorrect or
fraudulent transactions.

Automated systems such as SAP allow centralized monitoring of rights in SAP, such as
purchasing approval rights, as well as the organizational positions of personnel.

Recommendation 8

That the Comptroller’s Office monitors the purchasing approval rights
of users in SAP to ensure that such rights are not excessive and
comply with the requirements of the Financial Administration Manual.

• We previously recommended that ICT Services Manitoba, formerly
Manitoba Information and Communication Technology (MICT), prepare
for each department a list of personnel with rights in SAP to perform
incompatible duties.  Each department should be provided with their
specific list for review and approval.  This process should be updated on
a regular basis to ensure that departments are aware of staff members
with incompatible duties and that departments have controls to
compensate for the increased exposure to risk.

During 2002/03 an SAP report was developed which assisted departments in identifying
personnel with rights to perform incompatible duties.  It was first distributed to
Departmental Executive Finance Officers in June 2002 for their review.  We understand
that in accordance with the Comptrollership Framework, it is the responsibility of each

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.  (Updated in 2006)
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department to ensure that the existence of any incompatible duties and the
compensating controls are identified and documented.  However, the departmental
Comptrollership plans which are the mechanism for reporting to the Comptroller’s Office
have not all been completed.

There are users with incompatible duties. For example, four individuals can approve
payments (F4 role) and make the payment (F8 role).  Also, there are about 250
individuals who can certify that goods and services have been received (F7 role) can
commit funds and enter into agreements (F4 role).  Both sets of incompatible duties are
regarded as high financial risk situations.

An emerging trend is the use of a software security tool to reduce the burden of
managing incompatible functions in SAP.  Such a tool can have the following benefits:

• identify segregation of duty issues before granting access
• reduce security administration
• provide a common platform for business, security and audit functions

regarding segregation of duties
• enable mitigating controls, including monitoring and follow-up

Recommendation 9

That the Comptroller’s Office in collaboration with the Office of the
CIO review the use of security software tools to better manage the
risks involving users with incompatible duties.

2.  Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity Plans

The Province has significant information systems for which it lacks plans to maintain or
recover computer processing services in response to adverse events that disrupt computer
processing services or facilities (disaster recovery plans).  In particular, the SAMIN system
is not covered under the Disaster Recovery Utility (DRUT) option with the mainframe
computer service provider, even though this option is used for some other systems in
government.

For the Taxation system, a test environment is available as a second site; however, the
system has not been fully tested.  To date, there have only been informal discussions with
the service provider and software vendor on available options.

The computer servers for the SAP system are divided between two buildings with a
communication link that allows a copy of the SAP database to be updated at the
secondary computer centre every few hours. Several hours of data can be lost if the
primary servers become unavailable.  This level of disaster recovery might not meet
business needs.

The government programs supported by the SAMIN and Taxation systems lack plans to
carry on critical business functions in response to adverse events or disruptions to
business operations (business continuity plans).  Also, there is no current documented
and tested business continuity plan regarding operations supporting the SAP system.

As well, there are no business impact analyses that assess the risks and acceptable
recovery periods related to these government programs and the operation of the SAP
system.

First recommended in the 1999
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.  (Updated in 2006)
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We previously recommended that a comprehensive business continuity plan be put in
place by the Province covering the SAP application.  Without a centrally coordinated
effort, limited resources may not be expended in the most effective and economical
manner for the government as a whole.  Without appropriate business impact analyses, it
is difficult to adequately assess the effectiveness of plans.

Recommendation 10

That the Comptroller’s Office in collaboration with the Office of the
CIO ensure that business impact analyses be conducted on a
coordinated basis by Departments to help develop suitable plans to
recover computer processing capabilities in response to adverse
events that disrupt computer processing services or facilities.

Recommendation 11

That the business impact analyses be used on a coordinated basis to
develop suitable plans to continue critical business functions in
response to adverse events that disrupt business operations.

Recommendation 12

That disaster recovery and business continuity plans be documented
and tested to ensure their effectiveness.

INVOKING SECTION 3(2) FOR EMERGENCY EXPENSES
For the first time in the 2003/04 fiscal year, the Government invoked Section 3(2) of The
Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment, and Taxpayer Accountability Act (Act) to exclude
emergency expenses in determining whether there was a positive or negative balance.
The Government did not invoke Section 3(2) of the Act during the 2004/05 or the
2005/06 fiscal year.  However, our concerns regarding of the invocation of Section 3(2)
of the Act remain.

Although we reported in 2003/04 that the Government did comply with Section 3(2) of
the Act, we also placed a scope limitation in the 2003/04 Auditor’s Report on the Special
Purpose (Operating Fund) Financial Statements because we could not express an opinion
on the amount of the emergency expenses excluded.  We found that there was an absence
of suitable, generally accepted criteria for use in determining an amount for emergency
expenditures as called for by the Act.  As a result, the amount, although declared in
accordance with the provisions of the Act, is not susceptible to audit verification and no
opinion was expressed on the amount of the emergency expenditures.

Representatives of the Department of Finance and Treasury Board Secretariat provided us
with the following documented rationale for the use of Section 3(2):

“Balanced Budget Legislation (BBL) Disaster Exemption Background for
2003/04 Public Accounts

• Section 3(2) of The Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer
Accountability Act states that, ‘The government is not required to include
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the following in determining whether there is a positive or negative
balance for a fiscal year:

a) an expenditure required in the fiscal year as a result of a natural or
other disaster in Manitoba that could not have been anticipated and
affects the province or a region of the province in a manner that is of
urgent public concern;

b) an expenditure required in the fiscal year because Canada is at war or
under apprehension of war;

c) a reduction in revenue of 5% or more in the fiscal year, other than a
reduction resulting from a change in Manitoba’s tax laws’.

• While this clause has existed since the inception of BBL, it has not been
used to declare any expenditure as disaster-related and not included in
the determination of the balance.

• Certainly as to the amount to be excluded under Section 3(2) may be
provided by way of a declaration of the Lieutenant Governor in Council
under Section 3(3) of the BBL, which states, ‘A declaration by the
Lieutenant Governor in Council that, in the opinion of the Lieutenant
Governor in Council, an expenditure or reduction of revenue as described
in subsection (2) has occurred is conclusive for the purposes of this Act of
the fact that the expenditure or reduction occurred and in that amount’.
This declaration can only be made after the amounts are known.

• Key criteria for invoking the clause in 2003/04 are the magnitude of the
emergency, the availability of other sources of revenue, and the
remaining balance of the Fiscal Stabilization Fund (FSF).  As indicated in
the following Figure 13, the available FSF balance was the lowest since the
inception of the BBL in terms of the total balance and as a percent of total
expenditure.  Revenue also declined from budget in 2003/04.

FIGURE 13
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• The criteria of revenue availability and FSF capacity were applied to
ensure that flexibility existed in the Operating Fund for future years.  The
FSF capacity as at March 31, 2004 is currently at $118 million on a
preliminary actual basis, or 1.6% versus the fund balance target
established in BBL of 5% of total 2004/05 expenditure.

• Legal opinion on the expenditures that could be declared indicated that,
to the extent that Emergency Expenditures exceed the $25,000,000
provided for in the Main Estimates, they could be excluded in determining
the balance for the year under the BBL.”

In Figure 13 above, provided by the Government, the Emergency Expenditures Variance
from Budget column shows actual expenses but the third party recoveries are included in
the Total Revenue Variance from Budget column for the 2003/04 year, but not for the
years 1997/98 to 1999/00.  Figure 14 shows what Figure 13 would look like if third
party recoverables were listed consistently.

FIGURE 14

The $71 million in emergency expenses excluded under Section 3(2) of the Act was, as
noted above, net of the budgeted amount of $25 million provided in the 2003/04
Estimates (of Expenditures).  The $71 million emergency expenses were also net of
approximately $2 million in third party recoveries from the Federal Government.

The two largest categories of costs included emergency expenses related to the bovine
spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) crisis and forest fire suppression activity.  The BSE
crisis costs were $42 million which incorporated $9 million for a provision for bad debts
for the BSE Recovery Loan Program and $33 million for a shared cost program to support
producers affected.  As well, there was $52 million spent on forest fire suppression
activities.

The other categories included were spring flood costs of approximately $1 million and a
further $1 million for various departmental emergency expenses.
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Analysis

We reviewed the justification for this transaction before concluding that the amount of
the excluded emergency expenses was not susceptible to audit verification because of a
lack suitable lack of generally accepted criteria to be used in determining the amount.

In our view, appropriate criteria for determining the amount of emergency expenses
would not include the amount available to be drawn from the Fiscal Stabilization Fund or
the availability of other sources of revenue.

However, the criterion of the magnitude of the costs related to emergency expenses is
relevant as the Government must manage unforeseen circumstances on an ongoing basis.
Similarly, there is the issue of the amount budgeted as a baseline over which any
additional expenses would be considered of a sufficient magnitude to be excluded.

Another criterion to consider is the appropriateness of the amount budgeted for
contingencies.  In 2003/04 the government budgeted $25 million (0.3% of budgeted
expenses) for contingencies.  On this basis, Section 3(2) was invoked for all emergency
expenses over $25 million.  However, one could argue that $25 million is a very tiny
contingency in a $7.3 billion budget.  A larger contingency would result in Section 3(2)
being invoked only for significant events.

In addition, we found that over the five year period ending in 2003/04, the highest costs
incurred for forest fire suppression activities alone, net of recoveries and adjusted for
inflation, were $25 million ($26.2 million in 1999/00 with recoveries of $2.9 million,
both in nominal dollars).

We believe that the criteria could also consider the historical trends of expenses incurred
and be used to establish a range, outside of which, the emergency expenses would be
considered eligible for exclusion under Section 3(2) of the Act.  Similarly, the
Government might also establish criteria for what constitutes a natural or other disaster
in Manitoba that could not have been anticipated and affects the province or a region of
the province in a manner that is of urgent public concern.

In summary, we believe that the criteria used to determine the emergency expenses
excluded under Section 3(2) of the Act for purposes of determining whether there is a
balanced budget should be clearly defined and communicated to the Legislative
Assembly.

This year, as noted earlier in this report, the Government released a consultant’s report
entitled “Modernizing Manitoba’s Financial Accountability Legislation” which included
twelve recommendations with respect to amending the present Balanced Budget
Legislation (BBL).  The fifth recommendation included to a reference to a principal that
the “measure [of compliance with BBL] should provide some flexibility to provide the
Government with an opportunity to respond to extraordinary circumstances”.

Recommendation 13

That the Government develop suitable, generally accepted criteria to
be used in determining an amount of emergency expenditures to be
excluded under Section 3(2) of the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment,
and Taxpayer Accountability Act or under the amended legislation and
communicate these criteria to the Members of the Legislative
Assembly.
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Who Conducts the Audits
The Auditor General’s Office audits many of the crown organizations and one of the
government business enterprises included in the Government Reporting Entity and the
others are audited by private sector auditors appointed by the Government.
Consequently, we place reliance on the audit work and opinions of the private sector
auditors in forming the audit opinion on the Summary Financial Statements.  As
discussed below The Auditor General Act also provides us with specific authority over
Government appointed auditors of crown organizations.  We obtain written
representations from the private sector auditors regarding their independence and
compliance with generally accepted auditing standards.  We also perform additional
auditing procedures, as we consider necessary, to fulfill our broader reporting
responsibilities to the Legislative Assembly.

Appendix E lists those government entities audited by the Auditor General’s Office and
those audited by private sector auditors.

Relationship with Private Sector Auditors

THE AUDITOR GENERAL ACT
The Auditor General, as the auditor of the Public Accounts of the Government of the
Province of Manitoba, reports on whether the Government’s Summary Financial
Statements are fairly presented in accordance with public sector accounting standards for
senior governments.

As many of the financial statements of government entities included in the Government
Reporting Entity are audited by private sector auditors, the Auditor General must also be
able to rely on the work of these external auditors.  The Auditor General Act (Act)
clarified the Auditor General’s authority over the external auditors and the
responsibilities of the external auditors to the Auditor General as auditors of government
entities.  Section 13 of the Act authorizes the Auditor General to rely on the report of an
external auditor of a government entity in order to fulfill the Auditor General’s
responsibilities as the auditor of the government accounts.  Professional auditing
standards, namely Section 6930 of the CICA Assurance Handbook, permit reliance on the
work of another auditor provided that the Auditor General is satisfied that the audit
conducted has been properly planned, executed, completed and reported.

In addition, as we reported previously, the Act was proclaimed in early May 2002, and
since then we have expanded our role in the financial statement audits of government
entities audited by the private sector auditors.  Our expanded role has encompassed a
review of the planning, execution and completion stages of the audits performed by
these auditors.

Excerpts from the Act are provided below:

Planning

The Auditor General may require the external auditor of government entities to provide
the Auditor General with a description of the proposed scope of the audit before the
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audit is begun.  The Auditor General may then require changes to be made in the scope of
the audit.  [Section 12(1) of the Act]

Execution

Before an external auditor issues an audit opinion on the financial statements of a
government entity, the Auditor General may require the external auditor conduct
additional examinations relating to the financial statements.  [Section 12(2)(b) of the
Act]

Completion

Before an external auditor issues an audit opinion on the financial statements of a
government entity, the Auditor General may require the external auditor to provide the
Auditor General with a copy of the proposed audit opinion, the draft financial
statements, and any recommendations arising out of the audit of the financial
statements.  [Section 12(2)(a) of the Act]

The Auditor General may require an external auditor to give the Auditor General a copy
of the audit working papers.  [Section 12(3) of the Act]

Reporting

As soon as an audit is completed, an external auditor must give the Auditor General a
copy of the audit opinion on the financial statements of a government organization and
any recommendations arising out of the audit of the financial statements.  [Section
12(4) of the Act]

Report to the Legislative Assembly

The Auditor General has the authority to report to the Legislative Assembly on any
matter he or she may wish to draw attention to and make recommendations regarding
any audit conducted by an external auditor under Section 12.  [Section 10(3) of the
Act]

RELIANCE ON THE WORK OF PRIVATE SECTOR AUDITORS
In the 2002/03 audit cycle, we met with the Chief Executive Officers and the Chief
Financial Officers of crown organizations included in the Government Reporting Entity, as
well as representatives from the private sector audit firms conducting the financial
statement audits of these entities.  At these meetings we clarified the role our Office
would be taking in these audits, and set out our specific expectations regarding required
correspondence, communications and time lines.

For year ended March 31, 2006, the Office of the Auditor General continued to issue
letters to the external auditors requiring them to comply with Sections 12(1), 12(2) and
12(4) of the Act.  Specifically, the external auditors were to provide to our Office, draft
audit plans before the commencement of the audit field work and draft audit opinions
and financial statements prior to finalizing the audit.  The auditors were also directed to
provide signed audit opinions and management letters.
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Review of Draft Planning Memoranda, Financial Statements and
Auditors’ Reports

We received 70 draft planning memoranda from private sector auditors, which we
reviewed and made recommendations for changes on one of these audit plans.

Similarly, we also received and reviewed 70 draft financial statements and auditors’
reports.  We provided recommendations on 62 of the draft financial statements.  We had
no recommendations on 8 of the draft financial statements.

Of the 62 draft financial statements on which we made recommendations, 47 draft
financial statements were amended in 2006.  With respect to the other 15 draft financial
statements, some of the changes we recommended were deferred until next year.

The recommended changes included presentation and disclosure matters in the financial
statements and in the notes to the financial statements.

In accordance with our annual and cyclical review schedule, we reviewed 24 of the
external auditors’ working paper files including the audit working paper files for all of
the large government business enterprises.

We continued to communicate with the external auditors at each stage of the overview.

As a result of our reliance process regarding crown organizations’ financial statement
audits, we continued our involvement with the audit processes of crowns including
attendance at Board and Audit Committee meetings.  Through our review of the draft
financial statements of crown organizations prior to finalization, we also continued to
contribute to improved public sector financial reporting.  Our impact on their financial
statements included clearer and expanded note disclosure and improved asset and
liability classification and description.

Furthermore, in the case of our overview work with respect to Special Operating
Agencies’ financial statement audits, we provided assistance which improved the overall
disclosure and consistency of presentation among these organizations.  As well, that
work also contributed to the improved consistency of the financial reporting of the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority.

Management Letter Issues

We have reviewed and summarized the management letters issued by auditors of
organizations within the Government Reporting Entity.  These audits were conducted by
us or by private sector accounting firms with overviews of these external audits
performed by us.

Management Letters deal with matters that come to the attention of an auditor during
the course of a financial statement audit.  The matters communicated do not necessarily
include all those matters which a more extensive or special examination might uncover.
The objective of a financial statement audit is to express an opinion on the financial
statements of an entity based on the audit procedures performed.  A financial statement
audit is not designed to identify matters to communicate and may not identify all such
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matters.  Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements,
which includes responsibilities related to internal control, such as designing and
maintaining accounting records, selecting and applying accounting policies,
safeguarding assets and preventing and detecting error and fraud.

We reviewed the communications from the auditors of the 87 organizations in the
Government Reporting Entity (see Figure 15).  There were 44 Management Letters issued.
Management Letters were not issued for 43 entities.  For these entities, it was the
auditors’ opinion that no significant items came to their attention during the course of
the financial statement audit that should be brought to the attention of management,
and/or their Board/Audit Committee.

FIGURE 15

Among the 44 Management Letters that were issued, OAG noted three major themes as
highlighted in Figure 16:

FIGURE 16

1.  Internal Controls Weaknesses

There were 98 instances of internal controls weaknesses reported.  Internal controls assist
with safeguarding of assets and are designed to prevent and/or detect errors or
irregularities.  The internal control weaknesses identified involved the revenues,
expenses, capital assets and payroll functions within the entities.  Some of the items
noted were:

• Poor controls over financial reporting;
• Insufficient approval of payroll transactions;
• Unreconciled accounts;
• Improper segregation of duties; and
• Inadequate review and approval of transactions.
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2.  Governance

There were 23 instances of governance weaknesses reported.  Governance practices relate
to how a governing body, most often the Board of Directors, leads and oversees an
organization.  Some of the items noted were:

• Lack of approved minutes from Board of Director and Audit Committee
meetings;

• Inadequate and untimely financial information provided to the Board;
• Insufficient procedures and policies to monitor compliance with

Legislated Acts;
• Lack of review of budget to actual comparison of revenues and

expenses; and
• Lack of review and approval of financial statements.

3.  Information Technology

There were 58 instances of information technology (IT) weaknesses reported.  IT policies
and procedures are important as they help prevent unauthorized access to sensitive
information and play a vital role in ongoing government operations.  Some of the items
noted were:

• Poor computer system access controls;
• Poor computer password controls;
• No computer usage policy in place;
• Inadequate segregation of duties in the IT Department; and
• Outdated and untested disaster recovery plans.

During 2006/07, we will follow up the recommendations made in the Management Letters
to determine and report on the status of implementation of the recommendations.  Also,
we will request that the external auditors provide formal feedback on the status of any
recommendations they made in the 2005/06 Management Letters.

Detailed Assessments of General Computer Controls

For two of the financial statement audits conducted by the OAG, we provided
management with a detailed report of general computer controls.  The detailed reports
documented our understanding of general computer controls implemented at the
organization.  These reports provided the opportunity for management to learn about the
criteria against which the organization was being assessed and to confirm the validity of
our understanding.  Also, the reports included various internal control risks and
recommendations for improvement that are generally reflected in the preceding
discussion of management letters.

Regional Health Authorities
The Regional Health Authorities (RHAs) have third party long term debt (debt owed to
private sector financial institutions) which was incurred to finance capital projects and is
being repaid with funding from the Province of Manitoba.  In substance, under public
sector accounting standards, that debt is considered the debt of the Province.  We
reported last year the Province recognized that third party debt as borrowings of the
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Province in the Special Purpose Financial Statements.  This year, the Province continued
to recognize any new third party debt which will be repaid with provincial funding as
the Province’s debt.  However, since the RHAs have also reflected in their financial
statements this long term debt as their debt, the RHAs were directed by Manitoba Health
to reflect this third party debt as deferred contributions in the their financial statements
for the year ended March 31, 2006.  In accordance with not-for-profit accounting
standards, applying the deferral method, this funding, in substance, represents capital
grants from the Province and should be reflected as deferred contributions.

All the RHAs have restated third party long term debt as deferred contributions in their
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2006.  However, a number of
components of the Winnipeg Regional Health Authority would not adopt this accounting
treatment.  We believe that it is confusing for those organizations to report debt on their
financial statements, which has been recognized as borrowings of the Province in the
Special Purpose Financial Statements.  We are encouraging those organizations to restate
such debt as deferred contributions in their financial statements in accordance with the
substance of the transactions.

Receivables from the Province of Manitoba
for Severance and Vacation Pay Liabilities
Over the past two years we have reported that the Province of Manitoba instructed
various crown organizations (organizations) several years ago to accrue their vacation
and severance pay liabilities in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).  At that time, the Province acknowledged that it would be an unfair
burden on the organizations to expect them to recognize these liabilities without
financial assistance from the Province.  As a result, the Province recognized in the
Special Purpose (Operating Fund) Financial Statements, a liability to the organizations
for vacation and severance pay entitlements incurred up to the time of the directive.

Last year, the Province recognized in the Special Purpose (Operating Fund) Financial
Statements, the remaining liability of $234 million for employee future benefits
(severance and vacation benefits) owed to health care facilities (Regional Health
Authorities and their component health care facilities) and child and family services
agencies as at March 31, 2004.  These liabilities represent an estimate (using an actuarial
valuation) of the benefits that will be paid at a future date by the respective
organizations.  However, under GAAP, the cost of the benefits is recognized as an expense
in the fiscal year the entitlement to the benefits is earned.

Similarly, when these liabilities were recognized by the Province, the organizations also
set up offsetting receivables from the Province for these amounts.  The liabilities to the
organizations of approximately $269 million for severance and vacation pay entitlements
set up by the Province are listed in Appendix H.  The Province’s liabilities to the
organizations and the organizations’ receivables from the Province are eliminated when
their financial statements and the Operating Fund Financial Statements are consolidated
into the Summary Financial Statements.

Although the Province has recorded these liabilities, there are no specified terms of
repayment and these financial instruments are non-interest bearing.  The new Financial
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Instruments section of the CICA Handbook, effective for the year ending March 31, 2008
(fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006), requires that related party
receivables be accounted for, in terms of their subsequent measurement, at amortized
cost using the effective interest method.  These accounting standards apply to not-for-
profit organizations as well as profit orientated organizations.  This change in the
accounting standards is meant to better reflect the time value of money.  As a result,
these receivables will be subject to significant write-downs in their valuation if the non-
specified terms of repayment and non-interest bearing status remain unchanged.

The write-downs will be accounted for as a current year’s expense for the year ending
March 31, 2008 and will likely result in annual deficits and accumulated deficits in the
Regional Health Authorities’ and other organizations’ financial statements.

In addition, without a plan from the Province to discharge these liabilities, the crown
organizations must also consider the cash flow issue regarding collection of these long-
term receivables.  Many of the organizations are starting to pay out large severance
benefits as staff retire.  The organizations have to provide the cash payments from within
the organization’s resources.  We understand that the Province has no plans at present to
fund the payment of the balance of these amounts, unless the respective organizations
experience an overall cash shortfall.  This shortfall would be likely to occur only if the
organization(s) ceased operations.

Recommendation 14

That the Government develop a plan to discharge its obligations for
vacation and severance pay to the various government organizations
involved.  That the Government also clearly communicate to these
organizations, the portion of the annual funding provided by the
Province, if any, that relates to the increase in vacation and severance
pay liabilities.

Receivables from the Province of Manitoba
for Pension Liabilities
Certain organizations within the Government Reporting Entity including the Manitoba
Liquor Control Commission (MLCC) have recognized loans or quasi-loans receivable from
the Province related to pension liabilities.  In the 2004 fiscal year, we reported that the
Province recognized the loan payable to MLCC of $45 million to reflect the overstatement
of net profits earned up to the end of the 2003 fiscal year.  Because MLCC pays all of its
net profits to the Operating Fund, the Province should have recognized a liability to
MLCC as at March 31, 2000 for the overstatement of net profits resulting from MLCC’s
unrecorded pension liability.  As a government business enterprise, MLCC is self-
sustaining and is responsible for all of its operating costs including its pension costs.
Similarly, between the 2001 and 2003 fiscal years MLCC had overstated its net profits by
recording a receivable from the Province equal to the increase in its pension liabilities;
this corresponding liability was also not recorded in the Operating Fund.

Since 2004, MLCC has ceased recording an increase in the loan receivable from the
Province to offset in the increase its pension liability, effectively restricting the increase

First recommended in the 2004
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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in the receivable due from the Province.  However, there have been no terms of
repayment established for the $45 million loan receivable and the loan is non-interest
bearing.  As mentioned in the preceding section, under the new accounting standards for
financial instruments in effect for the 2007/08 fiscal year, the subsequent (the fiscal year
following its initial recognition and each fiscal year thereafter) measurement of the loan
receivable should be at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  If there are
no terms of repayment and it is non-interest bearing, MLCC’s loan receivable will be
subject to a significant write-down in the valuation of the loan which will be recorded as
a current year’s expense.

Similarly, in a number of other crown organizations, such as Manitoba Agricultural
Services Corporation (the former Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation component)
and Legal Aid Manitoba, long-term provincial funding commitments of $6 million and
$10 million, respectively, regarding pension obligations have been recorded.  The
receivables recorded by the respective crown organizations for pension entitlements of
approximately $46 million are listed in Appendix I.  No liability has been recorded in
the Operating Fund for these obligations.  In 2007/08, these quasi-loans receivable will
also be accounted for (valued) at amortized cost using the effective interest method and
any write-downs will be recorded as a current year’s expense and will likely result in
annual deficits and accumulated deficits in a number of their financial statements.

Recommendation 15

That the Government develop a plan to discharge its loans from and
funding commitments to government organizations for pension
liabilities.

2006 Recommendation
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Consolidating Public School Divisions
In June 2005, the Government announced its commitment to prepare summary budgets
(incorporating the entire Government Reporting Entity (GRE)) and financial reports in
accordance with public sector accounting standards (PSAB) by 2007/08.  That
commitment includes the consolidation of public school division financial statements
into the Summary Financial Statements. (Public school divisions were added to the GRE
effective April 1, 2005.)  The conversion to PSAB by the school divisions is currently
underway and is expected to be completed in time for the preparation of their financial
statements for the year ending June 30, 2007.  The full implementation of PSAB by the
school divisions for the year ending June 30, 2007 will allow for a smoother transition
for their consolidation into the Government’s Summary Financial Statements for the year
ending March 31, 2008.

Under The Public Schools Act, school divisions in Manitoba are required to follow accepted
accounting policies for school divisions.  Accepted accounting principles are outlined in
the Financial Reporting and Accounting in Manitoba Education Manual (FRAME) and were
developed by the Department of Education, Citizenship and Youth through the Schools
Finance Branch (SFB).

FRAME provides a standardized accounting and reporting system for school divisions in
Manitoba.  FRAME is based on Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) with two
major exceptions:

• there is no amortization recorded on capital assets; and
• many school generated funds are not being recorded in the financial

statements.

In June 2005, the PSAB Committee (Committee) was established.  The Committee’s role is
to facilitate the transition of the school divisions from FRAME accounting to PSAB.  The
composition of the Committee is comprised of six school division secretary-treasurers,
two school division external auditors, plus representatives from the SFB, the Provincial
Comptroller’s Office, the Manitoba Association of School Trustees and the Office of the
Auditor General (OAG).

ACCOUNTING ISSUES RELATED TO THE CONVERSION TO PSAB

1.  Tangible Capital Assets

The first accounting issue undertaken by the school divisions was the identification,
costing, and valuation of their tangible capital assets.  Tangible capital assets are non-
financial assets that are used by the school divisions to provide services to the public and
have an economic life beyond one fiscal year, and are not for sale in the ordinary course
of operations.  Tangible capital assets at school divisions include land, buildings, buses,
other vehicles, equipment, furniture, computers and software.

Under FRAME, tangible capital assets are recorded in the capital fund.  The FRAME Manual
establishes a threshold of $20,000 for the recognition of tangible capital assets.
Amounts below this threshold are recorded as an expense in the operating fund.  The
Committee developed accounting policies on tangible capital assets for the school
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divisions.  Asset classes, useful lives, amortization methods, and capitalization thresholds
were established.

Buildings, and related betterments, will be the most significant class of tangible capital
assets on the financial statements of most school divisions.  The actual cost of the
building will be used in all cases where it is known or readily available.  The replacement
cost of the buildings as at June 30, 2005 is used in cases where the actual cost cannot be
established.  SFB has developed a methodology, using Southam and CanaData construction
cost indices, which regresses the replacement cost to the construction date of the school.
As of fall 2006, most of the school divisions should have completed the costing of their
buildings.  All land will be valued by Land Management Services.  The valuation of the
land should be completed by March 2007.  The identification and costing for all other
asset classes should have been completed by October 2006.

2.  School Generated Funds

The other major accounting issue addressed by the Committee was the accounting
treatment for school generated funds.  School generated funds are moneys raised by the
schools through fund raising campaigns, user fees, parent action groups, cafeterias, and
the leasing of school property.  The funds are normally administered by the principal of
the school, and may or may not be used for the purposes of the school.  Not all revenues,
expenses and balances related to school generated funds are currently being recorded in
FRAME.

There was significant discussion in the Committee about the requirement and usefulness
of recording school funds.  Many school division administrators have expressed the
opinion that school funds should not be included in the financial statements of school
divisions.  School funds are not received from the Province; therefore school divisions are
not accountable to the Province for the funds.  They also view the administrative cost
required to account for school funds as significant as it is time consuming and therefore
expensive.

Financial statement objectives in PSAB provide the basis for determining generally
accepted accounting standards.  Generally accepted accounting standards enhance the
reliability and comparability of financial statements.  The first objective of financial
statements for senior governments is to provide an accounting of all the financial
resources and activities it controls.  School divisions can only achieve this objective by
reporting the full nature and extent of the financial resources they control, including
school funds.

The Committee developed an accounting policy on school generated funds that is in
accordance with PSAB.  The school fund accounting policy is based on who has control of
the fund.  If the school principal has control of the fund, and therefore the school
division, then the revenues and expenses related to the fund should be accounted for and
included in the school division’s financial statements.  Control is defined by who decides
how, when and on what the funds are to be spent.  A principal having custody over the
fund, or being the signing authority over the bank account, would not be considered to
control the fund, unless the principal has discretion on how the funds are to be spent.
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3.  Transitional Accounting Policy for School Generated Funds

The Committee arrived at the conclusion that most school divisions would not be able to
account for all their school funds, in accordance with the policy, in time to complete
their June 30, 2007 and 2008 year ends.  It is not uncommon for a single school to have
over a hundred school funds in its custody.  The school divisions will not have sufficient
lead time to establish who has control for all of their funds.

In consultation with school division Secretary Treasurers, the Committee approved an
accounting policy to define control.  Under this policy, Parent Council, Student Council
and Travel Club Funds are not considered controlled by school divisions.  All other school
funds may be deemed “controlled” for accounting purposes, however, school divisions
may also perform their own assessment to determine control using the following
guidance provided by the Committee.  Under the alternative accounting policy, school
divisions only need to establish control for a representative sample of their school funds.
Exceptionally large school funds will be excluded from the sample.  These large funds,
above a predetermined threshold, will be separately evaluated in accordance with the
accounting policy on school funds.  The percentage of funds that are determined to be
controlled by the school will be extrapolated over the entire population of school funds
for the division exclusive of the exceptionally large funds.  The special provisions for
large funds reduce the risk that the sample will not be representative of the remaining
population of school funds.

4.  Employee Future Benefits

The Committee has been reviewing the issue of the financial reporting of employee future
benefits (EFB) by school divisions.  EFB are retirement benefits, compensated absences,
and post employment benefits, which an employee earns in the current period, but will
be paid out in future periods.  Examples of EFB are pension benefits, disability income
plan benefits, severance, and vested sick leave.

The preliminary opinion of the Committee is that EFB are already being properly recorded
by the school divisions.  Under The Teachers’ Pensions Act, the Province is charged with
the responsibility of paying the employers’ share of pensions paid and certain other
payments.  No decision has been made regarding financial statement disclosure of this
arrangement.

Other employees, such as administrative staff, maintenance workers, and bus drivers
participate in defined contribution retirement plans.  Under a defined contribution plan,
the liability of the school division is limited to the required periodic payments specified
under the plan and, generally, is paid each fiscal year.  The school division is not
required to make any future contributions for current services in respect of the plan.
Dental and health plans and disability income plans are covered by private insurers.  The
school divisions are only responsible for the cost of the premiums.  There are also school
divisions that have vested sick leave and severance packages for administrative staff,
maintenance workers, and bus drivers.  The school divisions currently appear to be
properly accruing these benefits.

There is one school division with four separate defined benefit retirement plans.  Senior
management at the school division is aware that an actuarial valuation of each plan is
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required.  It is currently not known whether the accrual of a pension liability for any of
these plans will be required.

5.  School Division Debentures

In the 2003/04 fiscal year, the Government recognized $456 million in capital grants to
school divisions which were financed through the issuance of school division debentures.
These debentures, although issued in the names of the respective school divisions, were
being repaid with funding from the Province.  These debentures were purchased by the
Province and Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation as investments.  Under public sector
accounting standards, this debt is, in substance, the debt of the Province and the impact
of these transactions, capital grants financed through borrowings or investments, was
reflected in the 2003/04 Special Purpose and Summary Financial Statements.  Since
2003/04 any new school division debentures issued have been accounted for as capital
grants and borrowings in the public accounts.

However, the school divisions have also been reflecting these same debentures as debt on
their financial statements.  We believe it is confusing to the public to report the same
debt on two sets of financial statements, the Summary and School Division Financial
Statements.  This issue is presently under discussion and is expected to be resolved in the
2006/07 fiscal year.

AUDITING ISSUE
The Province of Manitoba has a March 31st fiscal year end while the school divisions have
a June 30th year end.  The Committee decided to maintain the June 30th fiscal year end
mainly because it coincides with the academic year.  Changing to a March 31st year end
would also create resource difficulties for the school divisions and their external
auditors.

The Province’s Steering Committee on Summary Budgeting and Reporting Project adopted
guiding principles for the preparation of the annual financial statements.  One principle
dealt with entities which have non March 31st year ends.  Entities in the Government
Reporting Entity that do not have March 31st year ends will be required to provide audit
level assurance financial information for the year ending March 31st.  The requirement to
provide financial information for the year ending March 31st is the responsibility of the
respective entity.

The consolidation of 38 school divisions, with June 30th year ends, represents a material
addition to the Summary Financial Statements of the Government of the Province of
Manitoba.  As the auditors of the Government’s Summary Financial Statements, we will
require assurance on the reliability of the financial information prepared by the school
divisions.  Specified audit procedures were designed by the OAG in cooperation with the
Committee.  The specified audit procedures will be performed by the school divisions’
external auditors.  We expect to rely on the work of the external auditors for assurance
on the reliability of that financial information.

The external auditors will report to us on the results of applying the specified procedures
on the financial information for the year ending March 31, 2008 under CICA Handbook,
Section 9100.  The report on applying specified audit procedures provides an alternative
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to the cost of preparing and auditing two sets of financial statements (based on
March 31st and June 30th year ends).  The specified procedures will be performed in
accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards; however, they do not constitute
the level of work required to form an audit opinion and no opinion will issued.  The
report will state the procedures performed and the results of those procedures.

The school division financial information that will be examined by the external auditors
will be the same financial information that will be required by the Comptroller’s Office.
The Comptroller’s Office will use the financial information to consolidate the financial
position and annual results of public school divisions into the Summary Financial
Statements.  We will review the reports from the external auditors and we will also verify
the consolidation prepared by the Comptroller’s Office.
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Review of the “Province of Manitoba
Annual Report for the Year Ended March 31,
2006” in Relation to Recommended
Practices in Performance Reporting

INTRODUCTION
In our report to the Legislature last year on the Audit of the Public Accounts for the year
ended March 31, 2005, we continued to recommend the following:

That the Province of Manitoba reshape its Annual Report into a
document that more closely reflects the recommendations of PSAB’s
Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis and CCAF’s Performance
Reporting Principles.

We reviewed the 2006 Annual Report to determine how much progress has been made in
implementing this recommendation.  Our work was conducted pursuant to the Auditor
General’s mandate under clause 14(1)(c) of The Auditor General Act which authorizes the
examination of whether the Legislative Assembly has been provided with appropriate
accountability information.  We relied on guidance developed by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants (CICA) to undertake the review of the Province of Manitoba Annual
Report for the Year Ended March 31, 2006.  The guidance from CICA is explained below
followed by our conclusions and further recommendations.

GUIDANCE FROM THE CANADIAN INSTITUTE OF CHARTERED
ACCOUNTANTS

Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis

To encourage governments to effectively report only the most relevant information, the
Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (PSAB)
has developed a Statement of Recommended Practice in regard to the annual reports of the
federal, provincial, territorial and local governments.  The Statement of Recommended
Practice is intended to provide guidance for the development of the Financial Statement
Discussion and Analysis (FSD&A).  Although not part of the financial statements, FSD&A is
information that would accompany the financial statements.  A financial statement does
not explain why something did or did not happen, or what may happen in the future as a
result of long-term trends.  Thus, the FSD&A provides narrative information and graphic
illustrations highlighting the key relationships that exist among the quantitative
representations set out in the financial statements, as well as explanations and
illustrations of variances and trends.

First recommended in the 2004
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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Ultimately, the aims of FSD&A information are to:

• enhance the users’ understanding of a government’s financial position
and results of operations, enabling them to make more informed
decisions and judgments; and

• enable a government to demonstrate accountability for the resources
entrusted to it.

Figure 17 presents the key elements from PSAB’s FSD&A Statement of Recommended
Practice and findings from our review of the Annual Report in relation to the Statement
of Practice.

PUBLIC PERFORMANCE REPORTING
To address the non-financial performance information of a public performance report, as
well as the linkage of financial and non-financial performance information, PSAB recently
developed a second Statement of Recommended Practice on Public Performance Reporting
(PPR).  The PPR highlights that the purpose of public performance reporting is to explain
in a clear and concise manner the extent to which intended goals and objectives were
achieved and at what cost.  To be effective, performance reporting has to be part of a
planning, implementation and monitoring of results framework (Figure 17).

FIGURE 17
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The Statement of Recommended Practice notes that:

Previously, entities focused their attention mainly on inputs and
activities.  The primary concern was what resources were being used and
how they were being used. These matters continue to be important,
however, there is now an increased focus on what is actually being
achieved with the resources consumed, in relation to what was planned.
(CICA Standards and Guidance Collection, Virtual Library, September
2006)

PSAB based its PPR Statement of Recommended Practice on earlier work undertaken by
CCAF, a national, non-profit research and education foundation that researches public
sector accountability, management and audit issues.  In 2001, CCAF released a set of
Performance Reporting Principles.  It developed its Performance Reporting Principles
through extensive consultation with legislators, managers and auditors.

Figure 19 presents the key elements from PSAB’s PPR Statement of Recommended
Practice and findings from our review of the Annual Report in relation to the Statement
of Recommended Practice.

CONCLUSION
The 2006 Annual Report continues to demonstrate the same limitations as the previous
year’s report (Figure 18 and Figure 19).  More work is needed in order for the text
accompanying the financial statements to more fully elucidate those statements.  As with
the previous Annual Report, the 2006 Annual Report is still not outcome oriented and
significant work is needed to bring the performance information presented in line with
PSAB recommendations on reporting.  Therefore, we reiterate the recommendation we
initially made in 2004:

Recommendation 16

That the Province of Manitoba continue to reshape its Annual Report
into a document that more closely reflects PSAB’s Statement of
Recommended Practice on Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis
and PSAB’s  Statement of Recommended Practice on Public
Performance Reporting.

First recommended in the 2004
Report to the Legislative
Assembly.
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FINDINGS
FIGURE 18



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2006    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 91

PUBLIC PERFORMANCE REPORTING

FIGURE 18 (CONT’D.)
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FIGURE 19
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FIGURE 19 (CONT’D.)

Performance Measures Reported in
2005/06 Departmental Annual Reports

INTRODUCTION
Our Office has been a long standing supporter of effective performance measurement and
reporting by departments.  Properly implemented, performance measurement and
reporting can meaningfully contribute to:

• priority setting by government;
• strategic management by departments;
• resource allocation;
• internal and external communication of government goals, objectives,

strategies and performance; and
• accountability.

In his message in The Province of Manitoba Annual Report for the Year Ended March 31,
2006 the Minister of Finance states that:

…the 2005/06 annual report of every department will include measures
to help increase transparency and accountability.  Providing performance
measurements will assist the reader in understanding how departments
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define success, and provide an overview of the challenges faced by
departments in pursuing that success. (pages 7 – 8)

OBSERVATIONS
We support departmental efforts in taking a systematic approach to developing and
reporting on their performance measures.  From a review of the on-line 2005/06 annual
reports, we observed that departments are using a common format for reporting on
performance measures.  The template contains an explanation of what is being measured
and the relevance of each measure as well as reporting on the most recent data available,
the trend over time and any additional comments that help to explain the results.  These
features of reporting are all positive steps towards building a performance measurement
and reporting framework within each department.

Each 2005/06 departmental annual report contains a statement which explains that the
intent of reporting on performance measures is to “provide Manitobans with meaningful
and useful information about government’s activities, complementary to financial results”.
Departments are on the right track as to the purpose of performance measurement and
reporting.  This perspective is consistent with that of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (CICA) which has issued a Statement of Recommended Practice pertaining to
Public Performance Reports (for details see previous section titled Review of the Province
of Manitoba Annual Report for the Year Ended March 31, 2006 in Relation to Recommended
Practices in Performance Reporting).

To build on their efforts and to ensure effective achievement of the intent of performance
measurement and reporting, future steps that need to be taken by departments in
reporting on performance include the following:

• presenting each measure within the context of a specific goal/
objective;

• linking departmental goals/objectives to government-wide priorities;
• explaining significant risks, capacity considerations and other factors

that impact performance;
• explaining how challenges and vulnerabilities are being managed/

mitigated;
• identifying performance target;
• connecting performance reporting to the rest of the annual report so

the reader can understand the link between programs/activities,
outputs, costs, and outcomes;

• facilitating the reader’s ability to connect expenditures with particular
goals/objectives;

• identifying data sources in relation to each piece of reported data; and
• explaining the basis on which those preparing the report have

confidence in the reliability of the information in the report.

We will continue to support departmental efforts in performance measurement and
reporting by providing our observations on the level of progress being made in future
years.
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CONCLUSION
Departmental efforts represent a starting point in the process of building a meaningful
and useful performance measurement and reporting framework.  Additional steps are
needed to fully develop effective departmental performance measurement and reporting.

Recommendation 17

That the Province of Manitoba further assist departments to improve
performance measurement and reporting through guidance based on
the CICA Statement of Recommended Practice on Public Performance
Reporting.

2006 Recommendation
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Role of the Public Accounts Committee of
Manitoba
When it operates optimally, a Public Accounts Committee is a key oversight and
accountability instrument.  This Standing Committee can be an important tool for
keeping the Legislative Assembly informed about the financial condition of the Province
and for holding the Government answerable for the efficiency and effectiveness of its
administration.  On several occasions, as long ago as 1986, the Office of the Auditor
General has pointed out that there are opportunities to improve the effectiveness of
Manitoba’s Standing Committee on Public Accounts.

At its July 11, 2000 meeting, the Public Accounts Committee (PAC) agreed to review how
it operates and to develop proposed changes for endorsement by the Legislative
Assembly.  The Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson of the PAC consulted with the Office of
the Auditor General and developed a set of proposed guidelines for reform.  On August 8,
2002, the Legislative Assembly changed certain procedures for Manitoba’s PAC.  Further
updates were made to the rules in 2005.  The accompanying table, Figure 20, summarizes
these changes and compares them to the reforms recommended by the Auditor General
and contrasts them with the way in which the PAC had functioned up to then.

The adoption of new guidelines represented meaningful reform in the mandate, scope and
general procedures that the PAC was to follow.  Since the reforms of 2002, there has been
an average of four meetings each year which is a significant increase from previous years.
The reforms also made some movement towards making the PAC operate in a less partisan
fashion. However, we continue to believe that further reforms are warranted.

In addition to the previous recommendations of the Auditor General, the PAC can look to
guidelines issued by the Canadian Council of Public Accounts Committees.  Also, in 2006
the CCAF-FCVI issued the publication, Parliamentary Oversight-Committees and
Relationships – A Guide to Strengthening Public Accounts Committees.  This material
provides suggestions for strengthening the powers and practices of Public Accounts
Committees.

The guidelines adopted by the Legislature in 2002 give the PAC the authority to review
and make recommendations to the Legislative Assembly on the functioning of the
Committee and its rules.  We encourage the PAC to continue the trend of more frequent
meetings and review the progress to date with the intention of further strengthening the
Committee.
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Audit Opinion on Compliance with
Legislative Authorities
Compliance with legislative authorities is essential for governments and government
entities.  We believe there is an increasing need for positive assurance of compliance to
be provided by the government and its entities.

Accordingly, we have drafted guidelines for auditing compliance with authorities.  The
guidelines detail management’s and auditor’s responsibilities in providing assurance on
compliance with authority for the government entity.  Management is responsible for
ensuring the entity complies with legislative authorities.  The guideline requires
management to prepare a certification addressed to the Board of Directors confirming the
entity’s compliance with specific legislative authorities identified that relate to financial
reporting, safeguarding public resources, revenue raising, spending, borrowing, and
investing.

The responsibility of the auditor is to form an opinion on the government entity’s
compliance with its legislative authorities as identified in management’s certification.

We have piloted the guideline on:

• two government entities we audit directly;
• one entity where we use an agent in the audit; and
• one entity audited by an auditor external to our Office.

The results of the pilots were very favourable.  The senior management and the Boards
were very receptive to the process and found that it was a useful exercise.

Based on the results of the pilots, we will conduct further discussions with the
Department of Finance, external auditors, and entity senior management with the intent
to finalize the guidelines during 2007.  We will work with these stakeholders to initiate
audits of compliance with authorities for the Province and public sector entities for fiscal
year ends ending on or after December 31, 2007.  The compliance opinion would be
separate from the audit opinion on the financial statements but will have the same
deadline requirements as the financial statement audit opinion.
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Municipal Financial Reporting
THE PROVINCE’S COMMITMENT TO IMPLEMENT GAAP AS THE
BASIS OF FINANCIAL REPORTING
In September 2002, the OAG issued a report titled, Review of Municipal Financial
Accounting and Reporting Standards in Manitoba.  In that report the OAG recommended:

“That the Department of Intergovernmental Affairs consider what role it
can undertake in encouraging financial statements of municipalities to be
prepared in accordance with the PSAB recommendation of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants, which in turn would have
municipalities preparing annual audited financial statements in
compliance with Section 183(1) of The Municipal Act.”

The Department examined the issue of PSAB compliant reporting for municipalities.  In
2003 the Department consulted with local government stakeholder groups to discuss a
process for the implementation of PSAB recommendations and the preparation of PSAB
compliant municipal financial statements.  It was clear at that time that stakeholder
groups felt that several things were important for the successful implementation of PSAB
reporting guidelines:  flexibility with respect to a timetable for compliance, sample
formats as a guideline for compliance, and training materials and sessions.

In 2004, the Department drafted a “PSAB Recommendation Impact Study” to assist in the
preparation of a sample format for municipal financial statements which would be PSAB
compliant.  The Department then examined PSAB materials prepared by the Provinces of
Saskatchewan and Nova Scotia with a view to adopting their processes, however, the
development of PSAB compliant forms was not completed due to staffing constraints at
the Department.

The Province of Manitoba and the Association of Manitoba Municipalities are now
undertaking a joint project to assist Manitoba municipalities outside of the City of
Winnipeg in their move to adopt public sector accounting standards (GAAP) as the basis
of financial reporting by the 2008 municipal fiscal year.  A Request for Proposal will be
issued to retain a consultant by who will develop a detailed implementation plan and
timeline, recognizing the inherent complexities facing municipalities as they move to
GAAP financial reporting.  The Province intends to appoint a project manager to support
plan delivery.  As well, an advisory committee of representatives from the respective
stakeholder groups will be struck to provide guidance on project implementation issues
and working groups will also be established as needed to address specific issues.

The Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants sets the accounting standards for all levels of government.  PSAB recently
issued an exposure draft on a new reporting model applicable to all levels of government
including local (municipal) governments.  The revised standards would mean that the
reporting model used by local governments would be the same as that currently used by
senior governments.  If adopted, the new reporting model would apply to fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2009.

Similarly, PSAB has already revised the accounting standards for tangible capital assets of
local governments to require full recognition and amortization of tangible capital assets;
these standards will be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.
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Public Accounts – Assessment of General
Computer Controls Over the Technological
Infrastructure
As part of the audit of the Public Accounts for the year ending March 31, 2006, the OAG
assessed general computer controls over the technological infrastructure supporting
automated information systems significant to financial reporting for the Province.  We
contracted with a professional services firm for assistance with portions of the
assessment.

We identified various internal control risks and recommendations for improvement that
are technical and sensitive in nature.  Consequently, they are included in a separate
detailed audit report to be issued to the Comptroller’s Office.  The matters are
summarized in Figure 21.

FIGURE 21

1.  SAP System-Level Controls

The twelve recommendations involve access rights for users, administration of granting
user rights, and configuration of the SAP software.  Some of the areas of concern leading
to the need for recommendations were:

• Segregation of duties;
• Control over powerful user profiles and built-in user accounts;
• Control over sensitive transactions;
• Logging of security-related events; and
• Removal of unnecessary programs from the system.

2.  Computer Operating System Software Underlying SAP

The eight recommendations involve security-related features or settings in the computer
operating system software.  Four are considered high risk and could lead to a
compromise of the operating system or unauthorized disclosure of confidential data.  The
other four findings are considered medium risk and have to be used with other
techniques order to compromise the operating system.
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3.  Database Management System Software Used By SAP

The six recommendations involve security-related features or settings in the database
system management software. All six are regarded as medium risk.

4.  Computer Operating System Software Underlying GenTax

The five recommendations involve security-related features or settings in the computer
operating system. Four findings are regarded as medium risk and the remaining finding is
rated as low risk.

5.  Database Management System Software Used By GenTax

The one recommendation involved unnecessary use of a powerful user account and is
regarded as medium risk.

6.  Other Controls

There are five recommendations for improvement that involve:

• Collaboration between the Comptroller’s Office and ICT Services
Manitoba in ensuring effective computer-related controls over financial
reporting;

• Internal Audit and Consulting Services assessing controls over financial
reporting, including computer-related controls;

• Development of both disaster recovery plans for continuing computer
processing and business continuity plans for continuing critical
business functions in response to adverse events;

• Reviews of controls at providers of computer services; and
• Delays in removing access to the government computer network for

former government personnel.

During 2006/07, we will follow up and report on the implementation status of the 37
recommendations.
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Executive Summary

OBJECTIVE
The overall purpose of the assessment was to compare Manitoba’s Internal Audit and
Consulting Services (IACS) with the Institute of Internal Audit (IIA) Standards and
applicable Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Standards to assist IACS in
modernizing their practices.  As such, our aim was to provide timely analysis and
recommendations as inputs to IACS in their process of refocusing their strategic direction
and operations.

IIA requires internal audit groups to undertake an external assessment no later than
January 1, 2007.  Essentially the purpose of an external assessment is to ensure that IACS
is carrying out its work in conformance with IIA Standards.  The conclusions and
recommendations contained in this report should therefore assist IACS in aligning its
operation with IIA Standards.

CRITERIA, SCOPE AND APPROACH
The criteria for the assessment are presented in Figure 23 with our main conclusions.

The assessment was based on the operation of IACS in fiscal year 2004/05.  However, in
some cases, data for years prior to 2004/05 were included in order to add context and
demonstrate trends.  As well, where appropriate, 2005/06 data was included.

The work did not examine, nor conclude on the effectiveness of IACS.  Likewise, our
external assessment did not include an examination of working paper files.  Therefore, to
complete the external assessment, IACS should engage the services of an external assessor
to determine whether working paper files are consistent with IIA Standards.

Information on the operation of IACS was obtained from interviews with the Director of
IACS and a review of documents provided including audit reports.  As a component of
this assessment, we analyzed a sample of 17 audit reports prepared by IACS in 2004/05
(35% of audit reports completed that year that were in excess of 100 hours).

We provided IACS with a more detailed report on our work in order to facilitate the
implementation of the recommended improvements.  The sections that follow are a
synopsis of our work.

ORGANIZATION AND MANDATE OF IACS
IACS is a branch within the Department of Finance.  The Director of IACS reports to the
Comptroller of the Province of Manitoba.  The objectives of IACS are to:

• “serve management throughout government by providing value for money
reviews and other internal audit services; and

• encourage the continual improvement of management practices and
accountability”.1

1 Manitoba Finance Supplementary Information for Legislative Review 2004-2005 Departmental Expenditure Estimates, pg.60.
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All government departments can access the services of IACS.

The total approved budget appropriation for IACS salaries and operating expenditures was
$1,941,200.00 in fiscal year 2004/05.  This appropriation is made through the
Comptroller’s Division.

SIGNIFICANT RECENT CHANGES
In 2005, a new Comptroller for the Province of Manitoba was appointed.  Subsequently,
in 2006, a new Director was appointed to IACS.  Given these senior management changes,
IACS considers itself to be in a transition period.  It also recognizes the need to
strengthen and modernize its operation.  To that end, at the time of writing, IACS was in
the process of developing a new strategic direction and plan of implementation.

ROLE OF INTERNAL AUDIT VERSUS LEGISLATIVE AUDIT
The internal audit function is distinctly different from that of legislative auditors (the
external auditor for the province).  The main differences in the work of each type of
auditor are presented in Figure 22.

FIGURE 22

MODERN INTERNAL AUDITING
Modern, leading edge internal audit services are characterized by “a shift toward more
proactive auditing rather than after-the-fact detective auditing.  The intention is to identify
risks, trends or breakdowns before problems occur”.2  Key strategies for internal audit
services to be leading edge are as follows3:

• Establish an internal audit committee with some members who are
external to the organization;

2 Jeffrey Ridley and Andrew Chambers. Leading Edge Internal Auditing. ICSA Publishing, 1998, pg.15.
3 Jeffrey Ridley and Andrew Chambers. Leading Edge Internal Auditing. ICSA Publishing, 1998, pgs. xxxiii, and 10 to 17.
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• Adopt and comply with professional standards;

• Recruit and retain capable staff;

• Establish and communicate a clear vision and strategy;

• Demonstrate the value of internal audit;

• Understand client/stakeholder needs;

• Focus on risk;

• Monitor internal controls;

• Educate management on risks and controls;

• Improve audit processes;

• Improve the communication of results; and

• Continuously strive to improve quality in internal audit services.

Key steps to achieve these strategies include:

• Assessing the merits of greater use of technology in carrying out
audits;

• Audit involvement at the design and implementation stages of systems
and programs; and

• Attention to trend analysis and risk analysis in planning, carrying out
audits and reporting them.

CONCLUSIONS
IACS needs to take a number of critical steps in order to meet IIA Standards and thus
modernize its practices.  More specifically, we reached the following conclusions in
relation to the assessment criteria:
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FIGURE 23
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RECOMMENDATIONS
An internal audit committee plays a critical role in the overall functioning of an internal
audit group.  When fully functional, an internal audit committee establishes the
importance and executive direction for an internal audit group.  For a cultural shift that
modernizes the internal audit function and accords it a higher profile and significance
there needs to be an internal audit committee that sets the appropriate tone at the top.

A number of the recommendations below are based on the assumption that a
government-wide internal audit committee will be established with clear roles and
responsibilities including the following:

• approving the audit charter that will guide the activities of IACS;

• having input into and approving IACS’ strategic plan, mid-term
operational plan, and annual work program of audits;

• approving the appointment and salary of the chief audit executive;

• making enquiries of management and the chief audit executive to
determine if there are scope or budgetary limitations that impede IACS’
ability to function properly;

• approving the scope of external assessments of IACS which are supposed
to take place every 5 years; and

• providing a forum for discussion to identify areas worthy of
examination by IACS.

FIGURE 23 (CONT’D.)
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Independence and Objectivity
• That IACS report functionally to a government-wide Internal Audit

Committee and administratively to a senior executive.

• That IACS find a way in which to implement periodic rotation of Audit
Partners between departments or if not feasible, to put in place other
measures to ensure against the risk of familiarity or perceived risk of
familiarity by virtue of long association.

• That IACS institute a policy and procedure to ensure that the same
auditor is not assigned to provide both advisory and assurance services
in regard to the same program.

Roles and Responsibilities
• That an audit charter be prepared by IACS that: consolidates in the

charter relevant provisions from the Internal Audit and Consulting
Services Manual and the Financial Administration Manual; and is
consistent with IIA’s International Standards for the Professional Practice
of Internal Auditing.

• That the audit charter be approved by the Internal Audit Committee.

• That Manitoba’s Core Competencies form the starting point for IACS to
update position descriptions to identify specific competency
requirements including competencies for effective interpersonal skills,
oral communication and written communication.

• That position descriptions be reviewed periodically to ensure they
reflect changes in expectations and adhere to current approaches to
position descriptions.

Professional Standards in Planning and Executing Work
• That IACS develop a Code of Conduct that addresses all of the IIA Code

of Ethics requirements.

• That IACS conduct a comprehensive review of its Manual and update it
as necessary to reflect current IIA Standards.

• That IACS develop a long-term strategic plan with input from and
approval by the Internal Audit Committee that includes the following
components:

- an identification of key organizational issues and audit risks
(prepared in consultation with senior management within
departments, and the Internal Audit Committee);

- the goals and objectives of IACS intended to address key issues
and audit risks; and

- provisions for performance monitoring, measurement and internal
and external reviews.

• That IACS review and update its long-term strategic plan at least every
three years.
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• That IACS prepare a mid-term operational plan, with input from and
approval by the Internal Audit Committee, based on an approved
strategic plan.  Mid-term plans should be updated annually and should
address such matters as:

- staffing, competency needs and professional development;

- information technology requirements;

- budgeting requirements; and

- how performance monitoring, measurement, and internal and
external assessments will be operationalized.

• That IACS prepare, with input from and approval by the Internal Audit
Committee, annual work programs to implement its approved strategic
and mid-term plans.  Annual work programs should include:

- the specific risk-based audit projects that will be undertaken, who
they will be assigned to, and the rationale for selecting the
projects;

- the professional development activities for the year;

- assigning to staff specific performance measurement, monitoring
and reporting activities;

- assigning to staff specific activities that may be needed in regard
to an internal/external assessment; and

- projected time frame and budget allocation for each activity in the
annual work program (including non-audit activities).

Resourcing
• That IACS develop and implement a succession strategy that includes:

- opportunities to capture the knowledge and experience of auditors
who are close to retiring; and

- a formal program for building technical and managerial
competencies for the less experienced auditors as well as new
entrants who will be recruited.

• That IACS prepare an annual professional development plan the content
of which should include those elements identified in their Internal
Audit and Consulting Services Manual (1998).

• That the annual professional development plan be based on the annual
performance appraisals of employees which identify skills that need
strengthening.

• That IACS undertake a cost-benefit assessment of computer software
that would facilitate its audit work and develop an information
technology plan of action based on this assessment.
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Communication of Audit Findings and Recommendations
• That IACS take steps to ensure that its audit reports more closely reflect

the expectations of IIA in reporting on audits including focusing audit
reports on risk and internal controls.

• That IACS standardize the format of its audit reports and clarify for
audit staff the expected content of each section of an audit report.

• That IACS take steps to ensure a better response rate to its client
survey.

• That IACS automatically provide copies of internal audit reports to the
Auditor General of Manitoba, as the external auditor for the Province.

• That IACS, with input from departments and legal counsel, develop a
policy and procedures that will guide it in making decisions on
requests for internal audit reports whether such requests come from
another department, an organization within the government reporting
entity or a source external to government.  Such a policy should be
approved by the Internal Audit Committee and should include:

- an assessment of potential risk to the organization;

- consultation with senior management and/or legal counsel as
appropriate; and

- a control on dissemination by restricting how internal audit
reports are used by those who request them.

• That IACS prepare an annual report that is shared with those to whom it
reports functionally and administratively as well as executive
management (deputy ministers).  Such an annual report should include
the following:

- a synopsis of audit objectives, findings, and recommendations for
each project;

- a synopsis of findings from follow-ups on the implementation of
audit recommendations;

- significant risk exposures and control issues, corporate governance
issues, and other matters requested by the audit committee and/or
senior management;

- how the activities of the internal audit group are fulfilling its
audit charter and planned performance; and

- a synopsis of the results of internal/external assessments of IACS.

Follow-Up on Audit Reports
• That IACS undertake regular follow-up audits on all of its audit

recommendations.
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Performance Measurement and Assessments
• That IACS develop and implement a performance measurement system to

measure its performance in relation to its planned results in order to
generate performance information that will guide the management of
its operation.

• That IACS plan for and undertake periodic internal assessments.

• That IACS prepare and implement a plan of action to address areas
identified through the internal assessment as needing improvement.

• That IACS communicate to the Internal Audit Committee the results of
internal assessments and the necessary action plans and progress
reports on implementation of such plans.

• That IACS plan for and undertake an independent external assessment of
its working paper files no later than January 1, 2007.

• Consistent with IIA requirements, that IACS plan for external
assessments every five years from the date of January 1, 2007 that
cover the scope of IIA’s expectations regarding external assessments.

• That the scope of an independent external assessment be approved by
the Internal Audit Committee.

• That the results of an external assessment and action plan to implement
improvements as well as progress reports on implementation of the plan
be communicated to the Internal Audit Committee by IACS.

Adding Value
• That IACS establish a risk-based approach to selecting audit projects

that are consistent with its strategic direction.

• That the selection of risk-based audits be undertaken in consultation
with the Internal Audit Committee and senior management.

• That IACS develop a formal procedure for regular, oral and written
communication with the Comptroller and the Secretary to Treasury
Board on audit issues including risk management, control and
governance processes.

• That IACS seek opportunities through their audit reports to
communicate learnings and best practices pertaining to the audit
engagement.
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Management’s Response

General Comments

The review has confirmed the need for enhanced practices, including a more proactive
approach, which have been recognized by management.  Under the direction of the new
Director and in accordance with strategic and operational planning that has been
instituted, Internal Audit and Consulting Services are embarking on modernization of
internal audit processes.

1.  Independence and Objectivity
• Corporate Audit Committee:  Further information is being obtained for

consideration of a potential implementation strategy in this regard.

• Rotation of Audit Partners:  Recently this has occurred, and will
continue to occur, with expected retirements and succession.  In the
future, consideration will be given to periodic rotation, although
priority emphasis is essential on ensuring sufficient knowledge of the
client’s business.

• Policy to separate advisory and assurance services:  Agreed and will
be implemented subject to availability of audit resources.  To the
extent possible IACS will continue to endeavour to separate advisory
versus assurance services performed by individual staff.

2.  Roles and Responsibilities
• Audit Charter and approval by Audit Committee:  Pursuant to the

anticipated establishment of a Corporate Audit Committee, a formal
Audit Charter will be developed for its approval.

• Job descriptions core competencies:  Agreed.  IACS is in process of
gathering information in support of refining job descriptions to
reference core competencies.  Future evaluation of strengthening the
management organizational structure would enable greater attention to
staffing issues including evaluation of competencies and staff
development and training.

• Periodic review of job descriptions:  Agreed.  IACS will endeavour to
review the relevance of job descriptions every three to five years in
conjunction with strategic planning or process assessments.

3.  Professional Standards in Planning and Executing Audit Work
• Code of Conduct refined to incorporate all IIA Code of Ethics

requirements and Manual updated to reflect current IIA standards:
Agreed.  Work has commenced to update the Manual including the Code
of Conduct to reflect IIA standards and requirements.

• Long-term strategic plan developed and approved by Audit
Committee:  Agreed.  A strategic plan has been developed.  Future
updates of the strategic plan will be approved by the Corporate Audit
Committee pending its formation.
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• Review and update of strategic plan every three years:  Agreed.

• Mid-term Operational plan developed and approved by Audit
Committee:  Agreed.  An operational plan has been developed and mid-
term planning commenced with the 2007/08 Estimates process.  Future
approval of plans by the Corporate Audit Committee is contingent on
its formation.

4.  Resourcing
• Succession strategy and formal training program:  Agreed.

Opportunities will continue to be identified for transference of
knowledge.  Since January 1, 2006, IACS has been engaged in actively
recruiting and hiring staff to fill vacant positions.  The need to build a
strong foundation of skills is recognized and opportunities will be
further explored pursuant to initiatives pertaining to the identification
of core competencies, related performance appraisals and a professional
development plan for staff.  All audit staff are encouraged and
supported in obtaining the IIA’s Certified Internal Auditor (CIA)
designation; computer audit (CISA) and Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE)
designations are also encouraged.  Training programs for new staff and
specific core competencies can be instituted as designated staff and
financial resources permit, and we will be evaluating our organizational
management capacity to facilitate the implementation of improvements
in this area.

• Annual Professional Development Plan:  Agreed.  A professional
development plan has been drafted and is subject to resource approvals
for 2007/08.  We will be evaluating our organizational management
capacity to facilitate the implementation of improvements in this area.

• Annual Professional Development Plan based on annual
performance appraisals:  Agreed.  Future annual performance
appraisals based on competencies will be utilized to identify skills that
need strengthening.  We will be evaluating our organizational
management capacity to facilitate the implementation of improvements
in this area.

• Cost-Benefit Assessment of internal audit computer software
technology:  Agreed.  Further consideration will be given to the
specific need and costs associated with specifically contracting for a
formal external assessment of internal audit software technology.  In
the interim, IACS has requested further information from the OAG on its
experience in using such software, for consideration of adopting similar
technologies.  Expanded use of other technologies such as
computerized sample selection will also be pursued by IACS subject to
availability of resources. We will be evaluating our organizational
management capacity to facilitate the implementation of improvements
in this area.
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5.  Communication of Audit Findings and Recommendations:
• Audit reports based on IIA professional practices including focus on

risk and control:  Agreed.  IACS has instituted measures to increase its
focus on risk- based audits, internal control compliance and
comptrollership.

• Audit report standardized format:  Agreed.  Opportunities to enhance
the consistency of terminology and format of audit reports will be
explored in conjunction with initiatives to update the Internal Audit
Manual and the development of supporting audit forms.

• Steps to improve client survey response rate:  Agreed.  The
administrative process has been reinstituted including follow-up on
survey responses outstanding and this is resulting in an improved
response rate.

• Internal Audit reports to be automatically provided to Manitoba’s
Office of the Auditor General:  As this practice is a departure from
prior practices, client departments will need to be informed and formal
report distribution protocols and policy should be approved by the
corporate Audit Committee, pending its formation.

• Report release policy developed with input from departments and
legal counsel and approved by Audit Committee:  Agreed.  It is
expected that report release protocols and policy including legal
counsel’s opinion will be given further consideration by executive
management and future Audit Committee, pending its formation.

• IACS Annual Reports to those to whom it reports functionally and
administratively, as well as to Executive Management (Deputy
Ministers):  Agreed.  Improved annual reporting will be instituted
relative to fiscal year 2006/07 results.  We will be evaluating our
organizational management capacity to facilitate the implementation of
improvements in this area.

6.  Follow-up on Audit Reports
• Undertake regular follow-ups on audit recommendations:  Agreed.

A follow-up policy and strategy have been recently implemented.

7.  Performance Measurements and Assessments
• Performance measurement system for IACS operations:  Agreed.  An

enhanced set of performance measures will be developed for
accountability reporting.  We will be evaluating our organizational
administrative and management capacity to facilitate the
implementation of tracking and continued improvements in this area.

• Internal assessments planned and periodically undertaken:
Agreed.  We will be evaluating our organizational management capacity
to facilitate the implementation of improvements in this area.

• Internal assessment action plan to address areas identified:
Agreed.  Future internal assessments will incorporate an action plan to
address issues identified.
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• Internal assessment results, action plan, and progress
communicated to Audit Committee:  Agreed.  Future internal
assessments will incorporate communication of results, actions and
progress to the Corporate Audit Committee, pending its formation.

• External assessment working paper file review completed by
January 1, 2007; external assessments every five years thereafter
per IIA requirements:  Agreed.  To complete the current external
assessment conducted by the OAG, IACS has arranged for an external
review of the working paper project files as required.  Future external
assessments will be engaged every five years per IIA standards.

• External assessment scope approved by Internal Audit Committee:
Agreed that this will be done by a future Audit Committee, pending its
formation.

• External assessment results, action plan, and progress reports
communicated to Audit Committee:  Agreed.  Progress on the results
of the external reviews will be tracked and will also be reported to the
Corporate Audit Committee, pending its formation.

8.  Adding Value
• Risk-based approach to selecting audit projects consistent with

strategic direction:  Agreed.  IACS initiated a risk-based perspective
for 2006/07, and additional improvements are in process for 2007/08.
Enhanced processes should be facilitated through the establishment of a
Comptrollership audit portfolio.  We will be evaluating our
organizational management capacity to facilitate the implementation of
continued improvements in this area.

• Selection of risk-based audits undertaken with senior management
and the Internal Audit Committee:  Agreed.  In conjunction with
2006/07 audit plans, departmental Deputy Ministers and EFOs were
specifically requested to give consideration to risk factors to ensure
that audit services were value added and dedicated to areas of highest
risk.  In future, a Corporate Audit Committee should help promote an
increased emphasis of risk-based, government-wide and horizontal
audit approaches.

• Formal procedure for regular oral and written communication with
the Comptroller and Secretary to Treasury Board on audit issues,
including risk management, control and governance processes:
Agreed.  Opportunities to pursue improved communication on audit
issues are being pursued and will be formalized as organizational
management capacity permits.

• Seek opportunities through audit reports to communicate learnings
and best practices:  Agreed.  Increased emphasis on risk-based,
government-wide and horizontal audit approaches should result in
enhanced information on systemic issues and best practices.  As we
advance with these processes, enhanced reporting on systemic findings
and best practices should evolve.





FUTURE HANDBOOK SECTIONS
AFFECTING THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
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Public Sector Accounting Board
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) sets out Generally Accepted
Accounting Principals (GAAP) for entities in Canada.  The recommendations and guidance
on accounting for businesses and not-for-profit entities are detailed in the CICA
Accounting Handbook.

However, there are unique accounting issues encountered in the public sector that are
different from the issues encountered in the private sector.  The CICA recognized the
unique characteristics of accounting in the public sector and established the Public
Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) to issue recommendations and guidance regarding GAAP
in the public sector.  These recommendations and guidance strengthen accountability in
the public sector through developing, recommending and gaining acceptance of
accounting and financial reporting standards.  PSAB recommendations and guidance are
detailed in the PSAB Handbook.

PSAB defines the public sector to include federal, provincial, territorial and local
governments, government organizations, government partnerships and school boards.

The public sector reported on by the Office of the Auditor General in Manitoba is
comprised of the Summary Financial Statements of the Province of Manitoba and the
government organizations consolidated in these statements.  This is described as the
Government Reporting Entity.

PSAB recommendations directly apply to the Summary Financial Statements of the
Government of Manitoba.  The Auditor’s Report issued by the Office of the Auditor General
in Manitoba on the Summary Financial Statements reflects the extent to which
government financial statements comply with PSAB standards.

Our Office and private sector auditors report on the financial statements of the
government organizations making up the Government Reporting Entity.  These
government organizations may base their accounting on the PSAB Handbook or the CICA
Accounting Handbook depending on the nature of the organization.  Government business-
type organizations and government not-for-profit organizations adhere to the
recommendations in the CICA Accounting Handbook.  Other government organizations base
the accounting policies on those that most appropriately reflect their objectives and
circumstances - based on the accounting recommendations of PSAB or on the
recommendations in the CICA Accounting Handbook.  Where the PSAB Handbook or the CICA
Accounting Handbook is silent on a particular issue, the entity obtains guidance from
other acceptable sources.

PSAB is responsible for developing Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for
the public sector.  Accordingly, it has approved a number of projects to develop these
standards.

After developing the draft standards, PSAB then issues exposure drafts on the proposed
standards to be included in the Handbook.  Comments on the proposed standards are
requested from interested parties.  Depending on the comments received, the standards in
the exposure drafts may be adopted, changed, reissued as another exposure draft or
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withdrawn.  Once adopted the standards are included in the Handbooks and are then
considered GAAP.

PSAB also issues research studies to provide guidance on specific areas.

New and Future PSAB Handbook Sections
Affecting Financial Reporting in Public
Accounts
The new Handbook sections, exposure drafts and other projects highlighted below have a
potential affect on GAAP for the Public Accounts (Summary Financial Statements) of the
Province of Manitoba.

NEW PSAB HANDBOOK SECTIONS AND OTHER GUIDANCE

Segment Disclosures - Section PS 2700

In April 2006, PSAB issued a new section establishing standards on how to define and
disclose segments in the summary financial statements of federal, provincial and local
governments.

Government summary financial statements are required to separately disclose the
following information about each of a government’s segments:

• the basis for identifying segments, the nature of the segments and the
activities they encompass, and the method of significant allocations to
segments;

• segment expense by major object or category;

• segment revenue by source and type;

• the aggregate of the net surplus/deficit of government business
enterprises and government business partnerships accounted for under
the modified equity method for each segment, if applicable;

• the aggregate of the net surplus/deficit of government organizations
accounted for under the modified equity basis in accordance with the
transitional provisions of the Government Reporting Entity Section PS
1300 for each segment, if applicable; and

• a reconciliation between the information disclosed for segments and
the consolidated information in the summary financial statements.

The objectives of disclosing this information are to enhance the transparency of financial
reporting and to help users of the financial statements:

• identify the resources allocated to support the major activities of the
government;

• make more informed judgments about the government reporting entity
and about its major activities;
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• better understand the manner in which the organizations in
government are organized and how the government discharges its
accountability obligations; and

• better understand the performance of the segments and the government
reporting entity.

A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for which
it is appropriate to separately report financial information to achieve the objectives of
this Section.

The section is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2007.

Tangible Capital Assets – Section PS 3150

In September 2006, PSAB revised the section on tangible capital assets.  The main
changes to the section are:

• The definition of cost has been amended to clarify that cost is the gross
amount and that capital grants are not to be netted against the cost of
the related tangible capital asset.  Guidance on the cost of leased
tangible capital assets is also provided;

• The 40 year guideline on the amortization period has been removed;
and

• There is additional guidance on the starting and ending of capitalizing
carrying costs.

The Section now applies to all levels of government.  It applies to local governments for
fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  During the period of transition to the
standards in this section, local governments should follow Public Sector Guideline PSG-7,
Tangible Capital Assets of Local Government.

The main impact of these changes on the Summary Financial Statements of the Province
of Manitoba is that new funding received by Manitoba for capital projects cannot be
deducted from the cost of the capital assets.

The section is effective the date this section was revised - September 2006.

Performance Reporting – Statement of Recommended Practice
(SORP-2)

PSAB issued a second Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP-2) on public
performance reporting in September 2006.

The first Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP-1) on public performance reporting
provided guidance on financial performance reporting.  However, PSAB recognized that
government financial statements alone are not sufficient to demonstrate the government’s
accountability and performance.

Accordingly, PSAB issued a second Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP-2) on
public performance reporting.  SORP-2 addresses the non-financial performance
information of a public performance report, as well as the linkage of financial and non-
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financial performance information.  In addition, information about governance practices
and conduct of business is encouraged to provide a complete and comprehensive picture
of the entity’s performance.

Statements of Recommended Practice are not part of generally accepted accounting
principles but serve to provide guidance for the development and acceptance of
performance reporting recommendations.

PSAB PROJECTS

Government Transfers

The government transfers project was started in 2002 because there was disagreement in
the public sector regarding the interpretation of the government transfers section.  The
major areas of disagreement included:

• the appropriate accounting for multi-year funding provided by
governments;

• the nature and extent of the authorization needed to be in place for a
transfer to be recognized;

• the degree to which stipulations imposed by a transferring government
should impact the timing of recognition of the transfer by both the
transferor and recipient governments; and

• the appropriate accounting for capital transfers received under
expense-based accounting.

As part of this project, PSAB has issued:

• a Statement of Principles (SOP) in 2002;

•  an Associates Exposure Draft in June 2004; and

• a second Associates Exposure Draft in June 2005.

Throughout the project and inherent in the above SOP and Exposure Drafts is the concept
that deferral of transfers may be appropriate in some instances.   PSAB tried without
success to build a convincing case within the SOP and Exposure Drafts, and within the
boundaries of the conceptual framework, to theoretically substantiate the deferral of
transfers in a way that a majority of the community would support.  However, the
reaction to the SOP and Exposure Drafts has been mixed.

PSAB concluded that deferral of transfers could not be substantiated within the
conceptual framework for a transferring or recipient government.  Accordingly, PSAB has
issued a new Exposure Draft in June 2006 that does not allow deferrals.  The main
features of this Exposure Draft are as follows:

• Government transfers are transfers of monetary assets or tangible
capital assets from a government to an individual, an organization or
another government for which the government making the transfer does
not:

- receive any goods or services directly in return, as would occur in
a purchase/sale or other exchange transaction;
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- expect to be repaid in the future, as would be expected in a loan;
or

- expect a direct financial return, as would be expected in an
investment.

• Government transfers should be recognized as revenue or expenses when
the transfer has been authorized and any eligibility criteria have been
met.

• A determination that a transfer is authorized requires evidence at the
financial statement date of:

- the authority to enter into a transaction, which is conveyed
through approved legislation, regulations or by-laws; and

- the exercise of authority under legislation, regulations or by-laws
in place at the financial statement date.

Proposed revised government transfers section and consequential amendments will apply
to all governments for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  The proposed
long transition period for revised Section PS 3410 is intended to allow time for
governments to consider the impact of the new standards on their policies, legislation,
regulations and by-laws.

Status:  Responses to the Exposure Draft have been received and are being evaluated.

Impact on Manitoba’s Summary Financial Statements

At present, the Government’s accounting policies for government transfers are as follows:

• Recognition of non-capital funding including multi-year (Federal)
Government transfers occurs in the fiscal year that the transfer is
authorized and the eligibility criteria have been met;

• Recognition of capital funding from the Federal Government for the
acquisition of medical equipment including diagnostic equipment is
deferred until the fiscal year the equipment is acquired; and

• Reduction of the cost of applicable capital assets for capital funding
received from the Federal Government under shared cost agreements.
Amortization of the capital assets is calculated on the net amount;

The Government’s Accounting policy for non-capital government transfers is consistent
with the proposed new standards.  However, the new accounting standards will no longer
permit the deferral of the recognition of capital funding for fiscal years beginning on or
after January 1, 2009 (2009/10 fiscal year).  The proposed new standards provide a
transition provision, if the standards are adopted before then, which would allow for the
continued deferral of restricted capital funding until January 1, 2009 or the fiscal year
the equipment is acquired, whichever is earlier.

The change in the accounting standards will also require the Government to recognize
capital funding as revenue in the year it is authorized and the eligibility criteria have
been met.  This change will increase the potential for significant volatility in the
reported summary net income.  However, if the government transfer is recognized as
revenue in the same fiscal year as the asset is acquired, there will be no impact on the
reported Net Debt (over the useful life of the asset).
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The proposed new standards may also require the Government to disclose a contractual
obligation related to any unfulfilled stipulations attached to the government transfer.

There may also be consequential amendments to the accounting for capital grants by
government not-for-profit and business-type organizations which would no longer
permit the netting of a capital grant against the cost of the asset it is used to acquire.

Financial Instruments

Derivative and other sophisticated non-traditional financial instruments are increasingly
being used by governments to manage financial exposures such as interest rate
exposures.

However, the PSAB Handbook does not have presentation, disclosure and measurement
standards for sophisticated, non-traditional financial instruments.  As a result,
inconsistent recognition, measurement and disclosure practices have developed.  There is
concern that recorded and disclosed information on financial instruments is inadequate
to enable users of financial statements to understand fully the financial effects of a
government’s use of financial instruments.

Accordingly, PSAB approved a project on financial instruments and set up a task force to
manage the project.  The main objective of the project is to develop standards that will
make reporting by governments on the use of financial instrument derivatives as
transparent and understandable as possible.

In January 2006, PSAB issued Guideline PSG-6, Including Results of Organizations and
Partnerships Applying Fair Value Measurement.  PSAB also approved a Statement of
Principles (SOP) for the recognition and measurement of derivatives for comment by
Associates.

In June 2006, PSAB requested information from interested parties on aspects of hedging
risks faced by governments.  Submissions were to be received by August 18, 2006.  PSAB
will consider the responses and build on the first SOP in developing a second SOP.  This
SOP will consider hedge accounting and measurement of non-derivative financial
instruments.

Status:  The second Statement of Principles is expected to be approved in March 2007.

New Accounting Handbook Sections
Affecting Financial Reporting for Entities
in the Public Sector
In addition to the changes to public sector accounting by PSAB that affect the Public
Accounts of the government, there are changes in the CICA Accounting Handbook that
directly affect its government business enterprises, government business-type enterprises
and not for profit organizations in the public sector.  The following is a brief discussion
of accounting developments in the CICA Accounting Handbook that we believe are
significant to organizations in the public sector.
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Financial Instruments

The major change in Canadian generally accepted accounting standards (GAAP) for
organizations in the public sector is standards for financial instruments.

In April 2005, the CICA issued new financial instrument standards.  Although the
standards do not apply to governments, they will be applicable to government business
enterprises, government business-type enterprises and not for profit organizations for
the purposes of preparing their financial statements.  The new standards are effective for
fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006.

In many cases there will be little change from the current accounting for financial
instruments.  If an organization has no financial instruments other than cash, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and arm’s length debt, there should be no change in
accounting for these instruments.  The standards will have the greatest impact on those
entities using the capital markets for financing or investing purposes or for entities
hedging their financial risks.

The new standards are detailed in three CICA Accounting Handbook sections:

• Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement (Section 3855)
This section establishes standards for recognizing and measuring
financial instruments on the balance sheet.  This section also specifies
how to treat gains and losses on financial instruments.  This section
will apply to all entities to some extent.

• Hedges (Section 3865)
This section details standards for when hedge accounting may be
applied.  Application of this section is optional.  It provides alternate
treatments to Section 3855 when an entity designates a financial
instrument as a hedge.

• Comprehensive Income (Section 1530)
This section sets out standards for reporting comprehensive income.
This section introduces new requirements for situations when you must
temporarily present certain gains and losses outside net income.

Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement (Section 3855)

Financial instruments must be classified, recorded and measured in one of the categories
described below.  Reclassification is rarely possible so it is important to understand the
implications where a choice is available.

Financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading
The financial instruments in this category can be characterized as those
an entity buys and sells for the purpose of making a profit.  It includes
almost all derivatives.  An entity can also designate any financial
instrument whose fair value can be reliably measured in this category
when it is first recognized.

The initial recording of the held-for-trading financial assets and
financial liabilities is at fair value, subsequent measurement is also at
fair value.
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Gains and losses are recognized in net income in the period in which
they arise.

Held-to-maturity investments
These are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that an entity has the positive intent and ability to hold
to maturity, that is, only debt instruments.  An entity must be careful
in allocating financial assets to this category because if there are
significant sales prior to maturity, then an entity must reclassify all
financial assets in your portfolio to “available-for-sale”.  The exception
to the preceding is if the sale was outside your control.

The initial recording of the held-for-maturity investments is at fair
value but subsequent measurement is at amortized cost.

Gains and losses are recognized in net income as the financial
instruments are amortized and when the financial instruments are
derecognized or impaired.

Loans and receivables
This category includes all loans and receivables except debt securities.

The initial recording of the loans and receivables is at fair value but
subsequent measurement is at amortized cost.

Gains and losses are recognized in net income as the financial
instruments are amortized and when the financial instruments are
derecognized or impaired.

Available-for-sale financial assets are those financial assets that are
not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or
held for trading.  Investments in equity instruments may be classified
only as “available-for-sale”.

The financial assets in this category are measured at fair value.  If the
equity investments, or derivatives based on them, can not be reliably
measured at fair value then they are measured at cost.

Gains and losses, except for impairment losses, are recognized directly
in other comprehensive income until the financial asset is
derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income would be
recognized in net income for the period.

Other financial liabilities
These comprise financial liabilities that are not classified as “held-for–
trading”.

The initial recording is at fair value but subsequent measurement is at
amortized cost.

Gains and losses recognized in net income as the financial instruments
are amortized and when the financial instruments are derecognized or
impaired.
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The classification and measurement of Financial Instruments is illustrated in the
following Figure 24.

FIGURE 24

Hedges (Section 3865)

Because hedge accounting is optional, an entity must designate and document a hedging
relationship prior to applying hedge accounting.  The designation and documentation
requirements are similar to the former CICA Accounting Guideline #13 (AcG-13).

Section 3855 defines two types of hedges – fair value and cash flow hedges – and
prescribes the accounting treatment for each.

A fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of all or a portion
of a recognized asset or liability or previously unrecognized firm commitment
attributable to a specified risk.  An example might be a fixed rate debt instrument which
you hedge with an interest rate swap that effectively converts fixed interest payments to
floating.

In a fair value hedge, the hedging item is measured at fair value with gains and losses
recognized immediately in net income.  The changes in the fair value of the hedging
item, to the extent they are attributable to the risk designated as being hedged, are
simultaneously recognized in income, with corresponding adjustments to carrying
amount of the hedged item.  The relationship must be effective both at its inception and
through its term.  To be effective, changes in the hedged item must offset changes in the
fair value of the hedging item.

A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows of a recognized
asset or liability or a forecasted transaction attributable to a specific risk or variability
in cash flows of a firm commitment attributable to foreign currency risk.  An entity
might use a cash flow hedge when you want to lock in achieve the effect of locking in a
future variable cash flow.  Examples of this are:

• hedge of the foreign currency risk in future purchases or sales; and
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• hedge of a floating rate debt with an interest rate swap to lock in a
stream of fixed cash flows.

In a cash flow hedge, there is no change in the measurement of the gain or loss of the
hedged item.  However, the portion of the gain or loss of the hedging considered to be
effective is recorded in other comprehensive income and recognized in net income in the
same period as the hedged item effects income.  Any ineffective portion is recognized
immediately in net income.

Comprehensive Income (Section 1530)

Comprehensive income is the change in equity (net assets) of an entity during a period
resulting from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources.
It includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments
by owners and distributions to owners.

Other comprehensive income comprises revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are
required by primary sources of GAAP to be included in comprehensive income, but
excluded from net income.  Other comprehensive income is presented as a component of
equity on the balance sheet.  The changes in other comprehensive income would be
disclosed in the financial statements.

A statement of comprehensive income would be presented in the financial statements.
Net income and each component to be recognized in other comprehensive income would
be presented.

Transition

The new standards must be applied for financial statements relating to fiscal years
beginning on or after October 1, 2006.  Earlier adoption is permitted.

Any adjustments to the carrying amounts, on initial adoption of the new standards, are
recognized as adjustments to opening retained earnings with a couple of exceptions.
These exceptions are assets classified as available-for-sale and amounts previously
deferred in respect of cash flow hedges which will be redesignated as new cash flow
hedges – the adjustments will recognized in other comprehensive income.  An entity
does not restate its financial statements for periods prior to implementation of the
standards.

New Exposure Draft on Financial Instrument Disclosures and Capital Disclosures

In addition to the new standards, the CICA Accounting Standards Board issued an
Exposure Draft Financial Instrument Disclosures and Capital Disclosures proposing to
enhance financial instrument disclosure and to harmonize Canadian standards with
international standards.  Comments on the Exposure Draft were to be submitted by June
2006.

Accounting Changes - Section 1506

Section 1506, Accounting Changes, has been revised to be consistent with international
standards.  The new standards establish criteria for changing accounting policies,
together with the accounting treatment and disclosure of changes in accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and correction of errors.
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The main features of the new Section are:

• Voluntary changes in accounting policy are only made if they result in
the financial statements providing reliable and more relevant
information.

• Changes in accounting policy are applied retrospectively unless doing
so is impracticable, or the change in accounting policy is made on
initial application of a primary source of GAAP in accordance with
specific transitional provisions in that primary source of GAAP.  A
change in accounting estimate is generally recognized prospectively.

• Material prior period errors are corrected retrospectively (i.e.,
retroactively).

• New disclosures are required in respect of changes in accounting
policies, changes in accounting estimates and correction of errors.

The Section applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2007.  Earlier adoption is encouraged.

New CICA Assurance (Auditing) Standards
Affecting Audits in the Public Sector
The new CICA Auditing and Assurance Handbook sections highlighted below have a
potential affect on generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) for auditing the public
sector in Manitoba.

Subsequent Events - Section 6550

Section 6550 Subsequent Events has been revised to be consistent with international
standards and the concepts of reasonable assurance and audit risk.  This section has been
expanded to:

• refer specifically to the need of the auditor to gain an understanding of
the management’s procedures for identifying subsequent events;

• provide additional examples of an auditor’s enquiries of management;
and

• note that an auditor is not expected to continue reviewing items where
previously applied procedures have resulted in a satisfactorily
conclusion.

The recommendations are effective for audits of financial statements with periods
commencing on or after January 1, 2006.
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Documentation - Section 5145

Section 5145 Documentation has been revised to provide guidance and new standards for
documentation of a financial statement audit.  The new section requires:

• the auditor to document:

- significant issues and findings in an engagement completion
document;

- audit evidence that an auditor has identified as contradictory or
inconsistent with the final conclusions and how the auditor
addressed the contradiction or inconsistency; and

- identifying characteristics of specific items tested during the
audit;

• assembly and completion of the final audit file within 45 days after the
date of the auditor’s report is issued;

• use of an experienced auditor as a point of reference for assessing the
adequacy of documentation; and

• identification of the preparer and reviewer of audit documentation.

The recommendations are effective for audits of financial statements with periods
commencing on or after November 1, 2006.

Legislative Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Federal
Provincial or Territorial Government Guideline (AuG-45)

This guideline was issued in April 2006.  It provides guidance on the wording of the
auditor’s report when the legislative auditor is required by mandate to express an
opinion on whether the summary financial statements of the government are in
accordance with stated accounting policies.  In order for this guideline to apply, the
stated accounting policies of the government’s summary financial statements have to be
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for the public sector set by
PSAB.

The opinion on whether the summary financial statements of the government are in
accordance with stated accounting policies, and any reservations of opinion on the
accounting policies, are required at the end of the opinion paragraph.  The guideline
provides suggested wording.

Audit Risk – Various Sections

A number of sections of the CICA Assurance and Auditing Standards Handbook have been
updated to harmonize Canadian standards with international auditing standards.
Fundamentally, the current risk-based approach to auditing in Canada has not changed.
However, there are changes related to the auditor’s understanding of the entity and its
internal control in order to improve the auditor’s risk assessments and to better link
assessed risks of material misstatement to the auditor’s evidence gathering procedures.

The revision to the Handbook includes new and revised standards for defining the
concepts of reasonable assurance and audit risk, understanding the entity and its
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environment, including internal control, assessing the risks of material misstatement,
and designing audit procedures that are responsive to assessed risks and for audit
evidence.

The new standards identify specific requirements for understanding the entity, its
environment and business risks relevant to the financial statements.  The auditor must
obtain an understanding of the design and implementation of controls.  The auditor must
also obtain an understanding of the entity’s risk assessment and its monitoring of
controls.

There are clear requirements for an auditor to assess the risk of material misstatement at
the financial statement level and the assertion level.  Audit procedures must be linked to
the assertions.

Tests of control must be completed to support the assessment a control risk assessment
below maximum.  In some situations tests of controls must be completed – only
completing substantive tests is not sufficient.

The new requirements are all to be applied at the same time and are effective with
respect to financial statements and financial reports for periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2006.

Audit of Policy Liabilities of Insurance Companies Guideline (AuG-43)

This guideline is part of the project to revise guidance relevant to the auditor’s use of the
work of an actuary as audit evidence.

Audit of Policy Liabilities of Insurance Companies Guideline (Aug-43) was released in
December 2005.  The key principles of AuG-43 are as follows:

• The audit engagement team requires actuarial specialist involvement.

• The entity’s appointed actuary is precluded from filling the role of the
actuarial specialist on the engagement team in almost all circumstances
because the appointed actuary has determined the liabilities that are
the subject of the audit.  This applies whether the appointed actuary is
a consultant or employee of the insurance enterprise.

• Independence of the audit function requires that an actuary other than
the appointed actuary examine the liabilities as part of the audit
engagement team, to provide corroborative audit evidence.  In order to
satisfy the requirements of the audit risk model, the auditor will
normally assess and test controls, review assumptions for
reasonableness, and perform some tests of calculations and models
involving recomputation, as well as the traditional reviews of results.

The new guideline will be effective for engagements concerning financial statements
and financial reports for periods commencing on or after January 1, 2006.

Also, as part of the project on the auditor’s use of the work of an actuary as audit
evidence, an Exposure Draft was issued with comment deadline of December 1, 2006.  The
exposure draft includes the key principles mentioned above when using an actuary as
audit evidence.  The principles will also apply to pension plan audits.
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SUMMARY OF WHO CONDUCTS THE AUDITS
(OAG - Office of the Auditor General; PSA - Private Sector Auditors)

Appendix E
                Audit Conducted By

OAG PSA

Government Business Enterprises
Leaf Rapids Town Properties Ltd. X
Manitoba Hazardous Waste Management Corporation X
Manitoba Hydro-Electric Board X
Manitoba Liquor Control Commission X
Manitoba Lotteries Corporation X
Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation X
Manitoba Public Insurance Corporation X
Workers Compensation Board X

Crown Organizations
Addictions Foundation of Manitoba X
Assiniboine Community College X
Board of Administration under the Embalmers and
   Funeral Directors Act X
Brandon University X
CancerCare Manitoba X
Centre Culturel Franco-Manitobain X
Child and Family Services of Central Manitoba X
Child and Family Services of Western Manitoba X
Collège universitaire de Saint-Boniface X
Communities Economic Development Fund X
Cooperative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board X
Cooperative Promotion Board X
Council on Post-Secondary Education X
Crown Corporations Council X
Diagnostic Services of Manitoba Inc. X
Economic Innovation and Technology Council X
First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family
   Services Authority X
First Nations of Southern Manitoba Child and Family
   Services Authority X
General Child and Family Services Authority X
Helen Betty Osborne Foundation X
Horse Racing Commission X
Insurance Council of Manitoba X
Legal Aid Manitoba X
Manitoba Adolescent Treatment Centre Inc. X
Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation X
Manitoba Arts Council X
Manitoba Boxing Commission X
Manitoba Centennial Centre Corporation X
Manitoba Community Services Council Inc. X
Manitoba Crop Insurance Corporation X
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               Audit Conducted By
OAG PSA

Manitoba Development Corporation X
Manitoba Film and Sound Development Corporation X
Manitoba Floodway Authority X
Manitoba Gaming Control Commission X
Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation X
Manitoba Health Research Council X
Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan X
Manitoba Hospital Capital Financing Authority X
Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation X
Manitoba Opportunities Fund Ltd. X
Manitoba Trade and Investment Corporation X
Manitoba Water Services Board X
Metis Child and Family Services Authority X
Public Schools Finance Board X
Red River College X
Rehabilitation Centre for Children, Inc. X
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority X
Sport Manitoba Inc. X
Tire Stewardship Board X
Travel Manitoba X
University College of the North X
University of Manitoba X
University of Winnipeg X
Venture Manitoba Tours Ltd. X

Special Operating Agencies
Civil Legal Services X
Companies Office X
Fire Commissioner, Office of the X
Fleet Vehicles Agency X
Food Development Centre X
Industrial Technology Centre X
Land Management Services X
Manitoba Education, Research and Learning
    Information Networks (MERLIN) X
Manitoba Securities Commission X
Manitoba Text Book Bureau X
Materials Distribution Agency X
Organization and Staff Development X
Pineland Forest Nursery X
The Property Registry X
The Public Trustee X
Vital Statistics Agency X

SUMMARY OF WHO CONDUCTS THE AUDITS
(OAG - Office of the Auditor General; PSA - Private Sector Auditors)

Appendix E
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               Audit Conducted By
OAG PSA

Regional Health Authorities
Assiniboine Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Brandon Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Burntwood Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Churchill Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Interlake Regional Health Authority X
NOR-MAN Regional Health Authority Inc. X
North Eastman Health Authority Inc. X
Parkland Regional Health Authority Inc. X
Regional Health Authority - Central Manitoba Inc. X
South Eastman Regional/Sante Sud-Est Inc. X
Winnipeg Regional Health Authority Inc. X

SUMMARY OF WHO CONDUCTS THE AUDITS
(OAG - Office of the Auditor General; PSA - Private Sector Auditors)

Appendix E
(cont’d.)
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Appendix F BALANCED BUDGET, DEBT REPAYMENT AND TAXPAYER
ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
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Appendix F
(cont’d.)

BALANCED BUDGET, DEBT REPAYMENT AND TAXPAYER
ACCOUNTABILITY ACT

W
E

B
S

IT
E

 C
O

P
Y



|    Office of the Auditor General    |    Manitoba    |    FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2006234

AUDIT OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
APPENDICES

BALANCED BUDGET, DEBT REPAYMENT AND TAXPAYER
ACCOUNTABILITY ACT

Appendix F
(cont’d.)

W
E

B
S

IT
E

 C
O

P
Y



FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2006    |    Manitoba    |    Office of the Auditor General    | 235

AUDIT OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS
APPENDICES

Appendix F
(cont’d.)

BALANCED BUDGET, DEBT REPAYMENT AND TAXPAYER
ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
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BALANCED BUDGET, DEBT REPAYMENT AND TAXPAYER
ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
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Appendix F
(cont’d.)

BALANCED BUDGET, DEBT REPAYMENT AND TAXPAYER
ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
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(cont’d.)

BALANCED BUDGET, DEBT REPAYMENT AND TAXPAYER
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(cont’d.)

THE FISCAL STABILIZATION FUND ACT
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THE FISCAL STABILIZATION FUND ACT
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RECEIVABLES FOR SEVERANCE AND VACATION PAY DUE FROM
THE PROVINCE
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Appendix J GLOSSARY

Accumulated surplus/deficit

Annual surplus/deficit

The total of all past annual surpluses and deficits to date.

The difference between the government’s annual revenues
and expenses.

A “swap” or other financial instrument that is entered
into with a third party, and is used to hedge interest
rate, foreign currency or other risk exposures.

Method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial
asset or liability and of allocating interest income or
interest expense over the relevant period.

Rate which exactly discounts future cash payments or
receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

Assets of government (such as cash, investments, loans
and accounts receivable) that can be converted to cash in
order to pay government’s liabilities or finance its future
operations.

Also known as capital assets, physical assets, tangible
assets, non-financial assets, physical capital stock.  These
general program capital assets form the infrastructure
necessary to provide services to citizens.

This refers to the accounting policies that government
should follow in order to be consistent in its accounting
practices with other, similar, organizations.  The
accepted authority for GAAP for Canadian governments is
the recommendations of the Public Sector Accounting
Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (CICA).

Those activities of government which are not carried out
by its profit-oriented enterprises.

Also known as commercial, self-supporting, or modified
equity enterprises.  These are self-sufficient Crown
corporations that sell goods or services to parties outside
the government reporting entity.

The group of organizations that are consolidated in the
government’s main summary financial statements.

Funds received by the Province from the Federal
Government, such as the Equalization Transfers and the
Canada Health and Social Transfers.

Derivative contract

Financial assets

General infrastructure assets

Generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP)

General programs

Government Business
Enterprises

Government reporting entity

Effective interest method

Effective interest rate
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Appendix J
(cont’d.)

GLOSSARY

The money value of goods and services produced within a
geographical boundary.  GDP can be reported without
adjusting for inflation (known as market value, current,
or nominal GDP) or it may be discounted for the effects
of inflation (real GDP).

These facilities are controlled by a Regional Health
Authority.  They include faith based hospitals as well as
personal care homes.

Reducing potential exposure to foreign currency, interest
rate or other risks.  Often achieved by entering into
derivative contracts with a third party.

Defined as government’s total liabilities less its financial
assets, this is the residual liability amount that will have
to be paid by future taxpayers.

Borrowings of the government.  Debt generally consists
of debentures, notes payable, capital leases and
mortgages.

Also known as the cost of borrowing, or debt servicing
costs, this is the interest incurred by government on its
borrowings.

The provincial consolidated financial statements through
which government reports its financial position and
operating results.

Gross domestic product (GDP)

Health Care Facilities

Hedging

Net debt

Public debt

Public debt expense

Summary financial statements
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